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SENATOR DEBORAH V. ORTIZ, Chair:  … Senator Alpert as well as Senator Speier, and Senators Escutia and Batten, who are in the Appropriations Committee, I believe, as we speak.  So we’re trying to cobble together and move forward on a very important hearing, and we will have members coming in and out, but they are with us in spirit.  Once again, I want to thank Senator Figueroa for helping us move forward on the committee today.


I really want to tell you that I appreciate your participation, for those of you who will be speaking before the committee today, and your willingness to share your expertise with us.  Your testimony, hopefully, will contribute to better public policy and improving access to health care for all Californians.


I understand that our first speaker may not be in the audience yet, but I want to take a moment to especially welcome, who I believe will hopefully soon be joining us, Secretary of the Health and Human Services Agency, Grantland Johnson, who certainly is a friend.


Welcome, Senator Soto.  Thank you for joining us.


Members and public, the facts are well known:  California has the highest number of uninsured and the fourth highest rate of uninsurance in the nation.  One in five Californians have no health coverage.  The consequences of uninsurance are deplorable.  California’s uninsured lack a regular source of medical care and suffer more from illnesses because they must delay treatment.  They lack preventive services, and when, and if, finally seen by a provider, they are denied advanced services and must make do with the low-cost alternatives.


Before us is a great opportunity; an opportunity to significantly increase access to care by expanding and simplifying existing programs.  We can extend coverage to 377,000 previously ineligible parents.  Also, by simplifying existing programs and ensuring parents, we can enroll over a million already eligible but currently unenrolled individuals.  It is imperative that we seize the opportunity to act decisively to address this growing problem.


I applaud our Governor Davis in his submittal of the Healthy Families waiver application.  Expanding the Healthy Families Program to provide parental coverage will increase enrollment among children and increase access to care for Californians.  Together, the Legislature and the Governor have also taken important steps to simplify Medi-Cal programs.


However, we can and should go further.  We need to simplify the Medi-Cal and Healthy Families programs to make the promise of eligibility a reality.  We need to enroll the more than a million Californians who are eligible but not enrolled in government programs.  Lastly, we need to seriously consider providing parental coverage up to 250 percent of poverty.


With us today are a group of experts that will provide us with the important information on the impact of expanding public health insurance programs on employer-based coverage, the affordability of the proposed premiums, and how we can further improve the Governor’s waiver proposal to enroll more families.


Thanks again for joining us today.  We look forward to your testimony.  I asked Senator Figueroa and Senator Soto if they’d like to make opening comments, and I welcome actually and extend the invitation to Senator Speier, who is chairing, of course, the Senate Insurance Committee, to also make welcoming comments.


I also want to take a moment to welcome my friend, our Secretary, Mr. Johnson, who has joined us, and thank him for joining us.


Let’s give Senator Speier a couple of moments.  We are on opening comments, and I want to offer and extend Senator Soto some opening comments, if you would like.


Wonderful.  Thank you for joining us.  I know it’s a difficult time, and I know we’re hopping.  It looks like Appropriations Committee may be, hopefully, completed.


Senator Speier.


SENATOR JACKIE SPEIER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I, unfortunately, am going to have to leave during part of the hearing because Appropriations will again be meeting, scheduled now at two o’clock.  But, who knows?  That may change as well.  Our work on the energy issues is not yet completed.


Let me just thank you for creating the opportunity for us to visit this issue once again.  As I read the paper this morning, I couldn’t have been more amused that the counties of Santa Clara and now San Francisco have found it within their means to insure every child in their region, and we as a state have yet to recognize that we have a fundamental responsibility to the children of this state; that our percentage of uninsured children in California exceeds that of any other state in the nation, with the exception of Texas.  I don’t know that we want to be aligned with Texas right about now, but it’s clear that we’re looking at 25 percent while other states across the country are looking at closer to 15 and as low as 7 percent of their children uninsured.  


It’s unacceptable, and I think to the extent to which we extend this to parents of low-income families, we are moving in the right direction.


I do believe that it is within the power of this Legislature and this Administration to insure every child in California.  I know many of us have been working to try and create that reality, and I do believe that if we put our minds to it, we could do far more with $12 billion towards our children than towards our energy.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your comments.  I think we share that.  I thank you for joining us, as temporary as that may be.  I certainly welcome your participation.


Unless there are other comments from members, I would like to invite our first speaker to come forward and discuss the overview of the Healthy Families waiver application and extend the invitation to Secretary Johnson to join us.


And for others who will be providing testimony today, you certainly are entitled to waive public testimony and offer written testimony.


Thank you, Secretary Johnson, for joining us.


SECRETARY GRANTLAND JOHNSON:  I want to thank Chairperson Ortiz, Senator Chesbro, who I don’t see here, and Senator Speier for this opportunity to testify on our parent coverage 1115 SCHIP proposal, which we call Healthy Families, in California.


On December 19th, we submitted to the federal Health Care Finance Administration (HCFA) California’s 1115 waiver request proposal to expand Healthy Families’ coverage to the parents of eligible children.  It is our goal to enroll parents into Healthy Families as soon as possible.  We’re aggressively pursuing an implementation date of July 1, 2001 -- this year.


To begin covering parents in less than six months, we’ll need federal approval for our 1115 waiver request by the end of February.  If this waiver proposal is approved, Healthy Families will finally live up to its name of providing health insurance to the whole family -- its parents as well as the children.


The challenge before us is to successfully identify and enroll all eligible families into our health insurance programs.  Important to the program’s success is the ease of enrollment for families and their children.  With this new parent coverage proposal, the Healthy Families and Medi-Cal are even more intrinsically linked; thus, program alignment is even more essential.


During the first two years of the Davis Administration, California has expanded the Medi-Cal and Healthy Families health insurance programs.  Since last March, Medi-Cal has been extended to parents with incomes below 100 percent of the federal poverty level:  about $17,000 for a family of four.  As a result, 150,000 more working parents have health insurance coverage through Medi-Cal.  The Medi-Cal program has transformed into a program of insurance with a growing majority of beneficiaries and working families.


We intend to build on the success of the health insurance for Medi-Cal parents by extending Healthy Families’ coverage to parents up to 200 percent of the federal poverty level, or about $34,000 for a family of four.  The 1115 waiver proposal doubles the state’s income eligibility level for parents as a result.


We anticipate that when the program is fully implemented, this expansion will cover an additional 290,000 parents in Healthy Families.


Building on the Healthy Families model, we propose the same eligibility rules for parents as are currently used for eligible children.  That means that there will not be an asset test for parents enrolling in Healthy Families.  Healthy Families will provide twelve months continuous eligibility for parents.  We will impose cost sharing for parents in Healthy Families similar to cost sharing for children who are enrolled in Healthy Families.  We will continue the premium discount policy by offering a $3 per parent per month discount for parents that enroll in a community provider plan in their area.  We also intend to allow parents who pay three months in advance to get the fourth month free, which we offer to children in the program today.


This proposal does not modify the children’s current health insurance programs.  Parents covered by Healthy Families will share in the cost of premiums the same as children in the program.  The cost sharing will be as follows:  

· Parents who are not eligible for Medi-Cal but have incomes up to 150 percent of the federal poverty level will pay premiums of $20 per parent per month.  

· Parents with incomes more than 150 percent of the federal poverty level, but less than 200 percent of the federal poverty level, will pay premiums of $25 per parent per month.


Benefits under Healthy Families’ parent coverage will be modeled on the same benchmark plan that we use in our Healthy Families program for children.  The benchmark is the California state employees’ plan that CalPERS negotiates with state employees’ health benefits and that the Department of Personnel Administration negotiates for dental and vision benefits.


In this proposal for parents, we intend to use the actual co-payment levels that are used in the state employee plan.  Healthy Families’ parents’ co-payments for dental and vision benefits will mirror those offered state employees which tend to be higher than $5.  


We have already made significant strides to streamline the health insurance program for children by having the same rules and the same application.  We propose a single, joint, mail-in application for all eligible families for Healthy Families and Medi-Cal which will be sent to a single point of entry.


We currently offer a one-month coverage bridge for children who lose their Medi-Cal eligibility because family income increases.  As part of this proposal, we extend the bridge to parents and complete the circle by building the bridge in the other direction as well.  If income falls for a family enrolled in Healthy Families, we propose providing a two-month bridge so the family can continue coverage while they’re enrolled in Medi-Cal.  


To enhance enrollment, we propose several outreach enhancements.  The Governor’s budget establishes an additional $6 million grant program to target school-based outreach and enrollment activities.  The new program will go directly to school districts, local health jurisdictions, or the community-based organizations that will implement a school-based approach to health insurance outreach and enrollment for families.  This program adds to the existing $6 million community contracting program.


In addition, we propose to offer application assistance payments for all family applicants at the current funding level of $50 for new applications and $25 for assistance with annual eligibility review.  


We’re also proposing to modify the media campaign to include the new information about parent coverage.


We have recently completed several public hearings to solicit comments on our waiver proposal, including two consultations with tribal Indian leaders.  The period for written comments extends through tomorrow, January 31st.  After that period, we’ll review all comments that we received and will consider possible clarifications of our proposal.


The goal is to better our proposal while maintaining a simple waiver design.  We want to keep on track for an expeditious federal approval by February in order to maintain an aggressive implementation plan of July 1st of this year.


I want to thank you, Madam Chair, and the committee members for this opportunity, again, to appear before you today, and I’ll be happy to answer any of your questions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Mr. Secretary.


Welcome, Ms. Shewry as well as Mr. Rosenstein.


Questions from Members?  I certainly have a couple of questions, but I want to extend the opportunity to my colleagues, if there are questions.  Unless there’s further comments from staff.


Senator Soto, did you have a question?  


Welcome Senator Scott.  Thank you for joining us.


SENATOR NELL SOTO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I was just wondering.  It’s not so much a question, I guess, as much as a comment.  I am concerned.  Will the fact that there is a new administration and a new director have some effect on our request, and if so, should we change our strategy and work towards something -- we think it’s already conservative enough -- towards being more conservative so that we can be sure that we could get some response?  Or, do we just go along the same way and not take into consideration that there is a new administration and they may have a different philosophy altogether?


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  If I may respond to that.


Our sense is that we should stay the course at this juncture.  There certainly should be some adjustments, we think, that we may want to make based upon the public comments that we receive and further refine our proposal, and also in response to additional requests for information that we are assured that the Health Care Finance Administration will afford to us.


I would think that there is a sense of optimism here in light of the recent approval of similar waiver requests for the state of Wisconsin submitted by the new secretary for Health and Human Services, the former governor--


SENATOR SOTO:  Similar to this?


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  Yes, very similar to this.


SENATOR SOTO:  That’s encouraging.


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  That is encouraging, I will submit.  And then, also, two other states:  I believe Rhode Island and New Jersey.


We tried to craft this proposal in a way that would be sort of a middle-of-the-road proposal in order to get an expeditious approval, and then our sense is that we can certainly talk about enhancements and changes once the basic proposal is in place.


We think that the importance of moving on the path of enrolling eligible parents is important because of what the evidence in other states that have adopted such policy in the past indicates in terms of the ability to increase the number, increase substantially -- 20 percent in some cases -- of children’s enrollment into health care insurance.


SENATOR SOTO:  Thank you.


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  You’re welcome.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Figueroa.


SENATOR LIZ FIGUEROA:  Thank you, again, for submitting the application for the waiver, but I do have some questions.


When the Governor’s budget actually allotted the first $6 million for community contracting programs for Healthy Families, there’s been a lot of criticism about how the community outreach programs have failed to bring in children into the Healthy Families’ original program.  And now you are allocating an additional $6 million, and I understand that it’s going to be more school-based.  You’re not going to follow the same pattern as you did before.


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  Well, there are complementary strategies:  They both will be in place and in play at the same time.  We will still continue the community-based contracting approach, as I said in my comments earlier, but the Governor’s proposed budget adds another component, which is proposed we fund it at the same $6 million level to target outreach but focusing on schools, because we find now that that tends to be one of the venues in which we’ve been successful in getting referrals of kids to Healthy Families/Medi-Cal for children programs, and we think that other states have used it more expansively than we have.  For example, New York State, whose efforts predated the State Children’s Health Insurance Program, has a very aggressive school-focused outreach program.


We think that there is no such thing as a “silver bullet,” that the diversity of our state, the size, the complexity, requires us to use a multiple set of strategies and intervention to try to increase the numbers of children and adults ultimately who are enrolled.  So we think that it makes sense to continue the combination of efforts to try to increase the enrollment effort on our part.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Do we know how much of the original six million the community-based program outreach monies is left?


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  I don’t have that number in front of me.  Stan, do you know?


MR. STAN ROSENSTEIN:  We have spent it all.  We’ve got contracts in place, about 73 contracts in place statewide, to do outreach.  And some of our contractors are very successful in bringing in individuals.


I also point out, we do an annual evaluation of our outreach program.  This year we put on tap our community-based outreach contracts, and we right now have an independent consultant reviewing our outreach contracts to determine the strengths and the weaknesses and how to do better.  So we are deep into the evaluation of those issues right now.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  During these hearings that you’ve had that are 

ending -- tomorrow?


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  Well, the public comment can be submitted in writing up until tomorrow.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Have people commented about the outreach program and how best to utilize the $6 million?

SECRETARY JOHNSON:  In the two hearings that I participated in, that really wasn’t much of a focus.  I don’t recall any comments in the two hearings.  I don’t know if Sandra or Stan can refer to the other hearings in which I didn’t participate.


MR. ROSENSTEIN:  We’ve gotten positive comments on the $6 million proposal from some of our partners who’ve worked with us on school outreach.  They’re excited about expanding school outreach.  Our own statistics show that that’s the best source of outreach that we’ve had, and this will work very much to expand what we’ve been doing.  Pretty successful program and outreach.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Just one more, if you don’t mind.


I notice that you’ve also mentioned the fact that you’re going to have one application for Medi-Cal and Healthy Families.  Do we know the length of that application?  I remember, and Ms. Shewry would probably remember it, that we went for weeks and weeks talking about the Healthy Families application.  


Do we know how long that’s going to be?


SENATOR SPEIER:  It was three pages.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  It was three pages.  Well, it started at 24.  At one time it was 42.  Do we know how long?


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  I feel confident in sitting here before you and asserting without qualification that it certainly will not be twenty pages.  We would hope that it would pretty much stay close to where it is now.


We want to maintain a single application for parents and adults, and so we will be designing it and will be testing such an application for the purposes of keeping the process, from a paperwork standpoint, as simple as possible.


We recognize the initial problems with the first application.  The first thing that we did when we came in was to move to reduce the size and the complexity of the original application to where it is today, and we’ve been constantly trying to tweak that application in order, again, to simplify documentation requirements and also just simply the handling of the application in terms of where it’s referred and how fast it can be processed.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you, because I know that that was a hindrance in getting families enrolled because of the complexity of the application, so the more you simplify it.  But I applaud you for combining the two, as that will definitely assist.


Thank you.


SENATOR JACKIE SPEIER:  Mr. Secretary, thank you for joining us today.


I’m troubled by an element that hasn’t, I think, gotten as much focus as probably it should, and that is the disenrollment figures in Healthy Families generally which appears to be somewhat related to failure to recertify and failure to make monthly payments.


How much money do we really generate from these $7 to $25 a month that we receive from the families that are participating?


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  I don’t know if I have the answer offhand.  We can certainly try to get that for you.


There are two issues, I think, to your question, if I may.  


We also are troubled by the disenrollment trends and are looking at trying to figure out what’s going on more definitively than an eyeball look can initially tell us.  We think that’s a troubling trend and one to be taken seriously.


I think it’s also important to keep in mind that the premium levels under the Healthy Families Program is designed to be patterned after a private health insurance model and is designed to give parents a sense of participating in the efforts to insure their children, just as you or I do under private health insurance coverage that we enjoy.


But again, we too are troubled by the disenrollment trend.  MRMIB Board, I know, is very much concerned about it.  All I can tell you is that we’re looking into it and trying to figure out what’s going on and why the trend, because it is a negative trend pattern from our perspective.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I have a couple of thoughts on it.  


If we’re going to continue to have a co-pay to which families are going to be paying when they go the physician or have a prescription filled, why have a monthly fee at all?  


Frankly, you and I don’t really pay a monthly fee.  It comes out of our checks, or we don’t pay at all because we have a PERS coverage that is very expansive.  If I had to write a check out every month to pay for my health insurance, I’m sure there would be some months that I would be late or something would happen.  


In this system, I become instantly disenrolled, which doesn’t make sense when we’re trying to be somewhat magnanimous.


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  I understand the point that you’re making and also understand the distinction between actually writing the check out and having a deduction out of your account.  We have to think about it’s automatic.  That is a difference between those of us who are not in the Healthy Families Program and those of us who are in the Healthy Families Program.  


That’s certainly something we can take a look at, and I understand the point that you’re making.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me ask further:  Have you done any focus groups on -- I know you’ve had hearings -- but have you done any focus groups with families that have children who are enrolled or families who don’t have children enrolled and whether or not $25 per parent is too steep?


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  I don’t think we’ve done focus groups on that, have we?


MS. SANDRA SHEWRY:  Senator Speier, Sandra Shewry with Managed Risk Medical Insurance Board.  


We haven’t had the opportunity to do focus groups with parents.  The focus groups looking at the premium issue that I think are most on point to your question were done with children.  They’re done by the Santa Clara Family Health Plan, and the primary finding there was that the parents found the premium amounts to be too good to be true and wanted to wait until one of their friends signed up to be sure that the current children’s premiums were true.


Now, I don’t know if the parents’ perception will be on a parallel to that, but that was early work done when Healthy Families first opened.  Seven to nine dollars seemed like such a value compared to the cost of the benefit that was being received that they wondered if there was fine print that would come later; that the hundred dollar bill would be behind it.  And so, they wanted to know that someone else had a good experience.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I actually have three questions for the Secretary as well, but I’ll go to the one relating to the premiums because I think it’s an important question.


I think, hopefully, we’ll hear testimony from some of the local initiatives regarding premiums and how that’s faring, but I’m a little concerned here that we’re proposing here that the poorest of families -- those below 150 percent of poverty -- really will have to pay significant premiums relative to their incomes.  We have seen two states -- I understand New Jersey as well as Wisconsin -- are waiving premiums for those under 150 percent of poverty, and I think that’s something that I’d like certainly, whether it’s clarification or amendment, a proposal of the Administration.  I think it’s important just to consider that.


You know, if Tommy Thompson can waive premiums for the poorest families in Wisconsin, I just think that we should think about doing that for the poorest of families in California.  The level of premiums, I think, is going to be an issue even as we’re proposing adding families.  In some cases we’re seeing a significant chunk out of an annual or a monthly income source, and I think it’s something that we’re going to hear more from the Legislature regarding the cost of those premiums.


The other question I guess I‘d like to present, and I’ll just put it out there:  Given that the additional state commitment of expanding parental coverage, and I applaud the Administration for doing so -- it’s important that we do that -- but given that expanding up to 250 percent of federal poverty level rather than 200 percent would only be $21 million out of this year’s budget and roughly $50 million in the following year, I’d like to ask whether or not there’s an opportunity to go further.  If I recall -- I don’t have the data in front of me -- but my recollection is that BadgerCare in Wisconsin actually went to 300 percent of federal poverty level.  I’m not sure.


So I think 200 percent is not far enough, and I’d like to suggest that if there’s a response as to why, for a relatively insignificant increase in -- in fact, a _________ reserve, it’s unclear, of $10 billion or so -- why we should not commit the extra $21 million in this year and $50 million in the following year.


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  Well, as you know, the Governor is, from a policy standpoint, an incrementalist.  He views doubling from 100 percent of the federal poverty level to 200 percent of the federal poverty level as a significant step up.  And given an incrementalist nature, he feels that it’s a reasonable, prudent next step in terms of expanding our efforts under the Healthy Families Program.


Perhaps in the future he’d be more open to going beyond that, but as you know, he believes in cautious steps, and he believes in ensuring that whatever steps and commitments he makes he can sustain.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask my final question.  Once again, I commend the Governor for including in the waiver request of simplification measures waiving the assets test for providing continuous eligibility.  But to include them for these parents and deny them for poor parents under Medi-Cal, I mean, if we’re going to waive the assets test under Healthy Families, and we have a poor population under Medi-Cal, I just think that it does not make sense at all to continue with the asset test under Medi-Cal.  It doesn’t make sense at all when you’re talking about a poor population with little to no assets.


Under your proposal, we’re going to have a situation where we’re only going to check the really poor families for assets but the working poor we’re going to waive that assets test.


So my question is:  What is the insistence on placing what I think are pretty onerous burdens on the very poor and the poorest under the Medi-Cal programs?


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  Let me recount for the Chairperson.  In the last two years, on three occasions, the Governor has rejected the proposals to limit the asset test.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What is the logic on that? I guess is my question.


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  Let me complete.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please.


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  Under Medi-Cal, he feels that people who have assets ought to contribute to their health insurance, whether it be under Healthy Families in terms of co-pays and premiums or under Medi-Cal.


I can assure you that, if a person, because of their assets, is not eligible for Medi-Cal, they certainly will be covered under Healthy Families.  We don’t believe that we will fail to cover any person who qualifies under either program simply because they fail the asset test under the Medi-Cal provision.  They certainly will be enrolled under Healthy Families.


So, that’s fundamentally the end-line rationale for the Governor’s insistence that we maintain the asset test under Medi-Cal.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that response.  My understanding is that Wisconsin has waived that asset test for Healthy Families as of today.


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  I suspect your understanding is correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which, again, I think there’ll be much debate about the lack of logic, I think, of expecting persons who are Medi-Cal, who may have a vehicle that is in little to no great shape and seeking employment or job training, to use that as a impediment to coverage.


So, I look forward to that discussion and that debate.  I think that’s something that we all will be talking about as we move forward.


Are there any other questions?


Welcome, Senator Kuehl.  We have our first speaker.  Mr. Secretary has presented the Governor’s proposal, and he’s taken every question and answered it.


Any questions, Senator Kuehl?


Please, Senator Soto.


SENATOR SOTO:  I’m just curious.  Is it possible for you to make any amendments to change things because of the situation that the Chair was speaking about, the inequity here?  And, is it possible to ask and request that we be treated the same as other states, and we put in that request now?  Even if we’ve already submitted this proposal, why couldn’t we add something to it?


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  Well, I have two responses, Senator.


First, this is a work in progress, and it certainly can be amended and changed; some provisions easier than others.  We certainly will take under advisement the committee’s observations and questions and recommendations as part of our ongoing solicitation of comments and critiques of our proposal.  Ultimately, it’s not up to me to make the final decision, but we’ll certainly have a conversation within the Administration.


And secondly, we anticipate that, in the course of this discussion, the Legislature will offer a number of recommendations which would also be incumbent upon us to consider.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that response.  I think, Senator Soto, that’s the very reason we’re having these hearings, so that we can ask for clarification and propose changes.


We do have a number of other speakers.  Were there final questions?


Senator Figueroa.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Will the committee be proposing recommendations or suggestions after this committee so that Mr. Johnson can take that back to the Administration of our recommendations?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We can certainly do it either as joint tri-committees in recommendations, or we can certainly do it as individual pieces of legislation, I think is sort of the opportunity that we’re presented with.  We can certainly have the chairs, if they’re in agreement on some points, to do so, but I think we would have to take any formal committee positions back to each of the three committees for action probably.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Because I think we really need to visit the issue that Senator Speier mentioned about the 20 percent disenrollment into Healthy Families and make sure that we look at that and not keep repeating some of the same mistakes.  Obviously, there’s a problem.  I know when we were discussing Healthy Families, we discussed the enrollment.  We discussed about not paying any fees at all.  We almost got there but we had a different governor at the time.


So, I think that these are many, many issues that we could revisit, considering we have a new administration.  I mean, at that time we kept saying, we’ll bite the bullet at this time because we’re going to hopefully have a new governor, and I’m sure that this governor is willing to go in the direction of ensuring more children and families, so that maybe we could bring again many of the issues up front that we visited during Healthy Families.  


There’s got to be a reason that we have a 20 percent disenrollment.  That’s a huge number.  We need to address that.  I think, while we have these hearings, we should really look at what’s occurring to make sure it doesn’t keep happening.


SECRETARY JOHNSON:  Ms. Shewry has a comment.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Certainly.  Ms. Shewry?


MS. SHEWRY:  Senator Figueroa, I just want to respond on the question of disenrollments in general from the program.


We do put on our web site every two weeks both the new enrollment and the disenrollment information on the program.  About 34 percent of those who do 

disenroll -- not 34 percent of everyone but of those who do disenroll -- disenroll for nonpayment of premium.  Nonpayment of premium, though, is a catch-all.  It means that we didn’t hear back from them, and in the 60 days where we’ve sent them three notices, they’ve never responded.


So what we ask our administrator to do is call the families that are disenrolled for nonpayment of premium to try to find out what’s behind that disappearance that we don’t hear from them.  We find that a good portion of them have either moved to the Medi-Cal program or have employer-based coverage, speaking to the transient nature of this income group, the fact that they’re changing jobs, moving, coming in and out of coverage.


Another large segment, not as large as the 34 percent -- in the 20’s -- has to do with the annual eligibility review.  The solutions there, and we’re very interested in working with all stakeholders on it, have to do with what we require of a family on an annual basis and how friendly we make that process.


We currently send each family a customized form saying, This is what we know about you; if you’d like to continue, all you need to do is document your current income so we’re sure that you’re within the program eligibility.  But that whole process is where we really would welcome input on how to make it easier, more streamlined, more consumer-friendly.  Because the families that are paying the premium, that are on the program, it’s tragic to lose them there at the annual eligibility review for lack of response from them.  


And so we are very much interested in feedback and are working with our advisory panel on that issue.  We take that very seriously because that’s something we can clearly do something about at the administrative level.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that clarification.  


Go ahead.


SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  I had a meeting yesterday with the EDS people, and one of the things they told me, they’re going to be training the people that take the applications.  In that training, could they include something that would apprise the person applying of them being required, if you would, to inform the agency when they change jobs or whatever?  Is that already being done, or could that be included in the training?  Because they said they’re going to do some very intensive training now of the people that take the applications.  


So that might be a good idea if they’re not doing it, that they can include that, so there wouldn’t be this disparity or this confusion that there is now.  They go from one service to another because they can’t afford it, for whatever reason.  If they can’t afford it, then they should tell somebody so that hopefully we could help them out.  If they’ve changed and gone to another job, or whatever, then they should inform the agency so that there would not be a backlog of things.  


So, hopefully, they would include that in the training that I was talking to them about yesterday.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I want to thank the Secretary as well as the other representatives -- Ms. Shewry as well as Mr. Rosenstein.  Thank you.  I appreciate your indulgence of all the questions, and you’ll hear more from us obviously.  


I certainly want to invite the next panel up.  We have lots of information.  


I want to encourage the next panel, does the proposal go far enough?  The very questions we raised here I think are going to be also asked again in this panel, but I would like to encourage that all the panelists come forward at one time, hopefully save time.  We’re hoping to complete the hearing at 4:00, but with the questions, as you can see, there will be lots of questions raised.


Welcome, Mr. Ku, Mr. Neuschler, Mr. Gilmer, and Ms. Toccoli.


And the very questions here in this portion of the hearing obviously are:  Are the premiums affordable?  Can we expand to 250 percent of poverty without losing employer-based coverage?  And I suspect that many of my colleagues will be asking many of the same questions in different ways.


Welcome.  And if Mr. Ku wants to open?


MR. LEIGHTON KU:  My name is Leighton Ku, and I’m a senior fellow at the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities in Washington, D.C.


For more than a decade I’ve been doing research and studies about the Medicaid program and the State Children’s Health Insurance Program, first at the Urban Institute and now more recently at the Center.


I already submitted some written testimony, so for the sake of brevity I’m going to try to hit the high points and not go through every single detail and all of it.


First of all, I want to express my admiration for the state, for the Legislature, for the Administration, in taking this bold step in trying to expand coverage for low-income parents under the Healthy Families Program.  As you know, California is on the leading edge of policy here.  Four other states have submitted applications for this purpose, but California’s the only one so far that is really trying to expand coverage and then committing new state funds to it.  


So it’s really important.  Many other states, I assure you, are interested in this.  The positions that California takes will really help pave the way for other states in terms of setting precedence and telling them what are good policies and better policies.


I want to really focus on five issues that relate very much to the issues that Senator Ortiz just mentioned, dealing with affordability and related issues.


Let me start with the issue of affordability and talking about premiums and co-payments.  The state’s December waiver proposed that, in the Healthy Families Program, lower income families pay about $20 per parent per month for health insurance premiums.  That’s about, in general, 3 to 4 percent of the family’s income that’s going to be paid for insurance premiums.  They said for the higher income families, they were going to be paying about $25 per parent per month.  That’s about 2 or 3 percent of their income.


Now, in research that we had done before, we looked at what was the relationship between how much you charge for insurance and what participation rates were and what were reasonable patterns, and not surprisingly, we found the more you charge, the fewer people participate.


One of the things that essentially is a concern that I have about the Healthy Families premium system is that, effectively speaking, lower income families are being charged a higher share of their family income for the health insurance premiums than the higher income family.  So really, it’s being more unaffordable, less affordable, for those poorer families.  And so this is a problem.


Already in this hearing one possibility has been addressed, and that’s the option that’s been used by a number of states, including Wisconsin and New Jersey, which is basically to charge nothing at all to parents at or below 150 percent of poverty.  And so that’s a perfectly reasonable alternative.  I understand Secretary Johnson’s position.  


Another possibility would be to make the premium levels for those lower income families even lower.  We did some analyses -- there’s a table in my testimony -- that talks about what would happen if you set those premiums for parents, for the low-income parents, at $9 per parent per month, and then it would be a somewhat more progressive schedule.  The lower income families would have a smaller share of income they’d need to commit, so more of them could afford to participate in the program.


The other concern that I have regarding affordability concerns co-payments, and that’s how much you pay every time you go to the doctor or you pick up a prescription.  The concern that I have is that many adults in this income range have chronic illnesses.  And for them, if they have to pay $5 for every medical visit, for every prescription, for many of them it can become unaffordable.  


Briefly, the options that I propose are:  You could cap that.  You could say, for example, in general, no family would have to pay more than, say, $30 to $40 a month in co-payments.  Or, alternatively, since that may be hard to implement or hard to monitor, at least cap the prescription drug elements, because that’s the part where people with chronic illnesses really could have a lot of scrips.  So if you could cap prescription drug payments at $20 a month, that’s another way you could go about trying to keep the cost sharing reasonable for people who have chronic illnesses.


The next issue that comes up relates to crowd-out, and crowd-out is sort of a technical term.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just take a moment, Mr. Ku, because I think this is really important.  This issue, Members, as we discuss trying to expand, this is the core, I think, of the challenge that faces us on the crowd-out question.


MR. KU:  On crowd-out, just to explain, it’s the slightly technical way of saying basically the issue is people are concerned that when you expand public insurance -- Medicaid or Healthy Families coverage -- that some people will drop their employer-sponsored coverage and they’ll say, “Hey, I can get a better deal by leaving my employer coverage and go to private coverage.”


There have been a number of studies of this.  However, most of them focused on children’s expansions in the late ‘80s and early ‘90s.  Those tended to show the crowd-out was relatively minimal:  existed but was not a very large share of the expansions.


It becomes trickier when we’re dealing with expansions for adults because there’s been less research on the matter.  And particularly, I think one of the most salient points is that there’s been a change in how the programs have been administered.


Since the mid-‘90s, it’s pretty standard:  Most states that are doing these expansions say that there must be a waiting period.  There’s some kind of an anti-crowd-out safeguard period.  So the concept in the Healthy Families Program that already exists for children, and what was proposed for the parents, is that they have to have been uninsured already for at least three months -- obviously, it could be more -- before they’re eligible for the Healthy Families Program.  Thus, you can’t immediately drop your employer-sponsored coverage and join into the Healthy Families Program.


The experience -- and there really hasn’t been a lot of research -- suggests that these basic waiting periods are actually fairly effective in preventing crowd-out.  I know probably Ed Neuschler and Todd Gilmer will be talking about these things later.  I had done a little study, looking at Tennessee’s TennCare program which had basic crowd-out protections, had a waiting period similar to what’s in Healthy Families, and looked at the crowd-out issue.  What we found was that for families below 200 percent of poverty, there was no significant degree of crowd-out of employer-sponsored coverage.  For those between 200 and 400 percent of poverty, there was some mixed evidence about crowd-out, but it really wasn’t crowding out employer-sponsored coverage.  Oddly enough, it was crowding out individual nongroup health insurance coverage.  That’s the most expensive kind of health insurance that people can buy, and so it’s not too surprising to me that there might have been some crowd-out for that individual coverage.


But the evidence that I have seen suggests that once basic anti-crowd-out safeguards are in place, that the level of crowd-out that exists has been pretty marginal and that these policies have been pretty effective.  But again, I’ll grant this is an area that has not been studied extensively.


Let me press on to my third issue, which is then relating to this crowd-out, is how high should the income eligibility level for parents be set?  The state’s proposal already had been to go to 200 percent of poverty.  In the children’s program, children are eligible up to 250 percent of poverty.  The question has been:  Well, gee, why shouldn’t you go up to the same level?


To my mind, the evidence on crowd-out suggests that crowd-out has not been a significant problem and should not be the reason that you don’t go up to 250 percent of poverty.  I suspect that the real issue is, do you have enough money?  Is it affordable?  And here, I’m not going to say that I’ve perused your budget to know about this, but I think that it would be nice if the state could make a commitment that, where possible, if it’s affordable, it would be desirable to move forward so that you have eligibility set at the same level for parents and for children.  And there are some ways that the waiver could be structured to do this.


You could, for example, do what Wisconsin does.  They set their eligibility at one level and they have what’s called a “roll-back” provision.  If they find they’re spending too much, they can roll eligibility back.  So you could set it at 250 percent of poverty, and if you are spending too much, roll it back to some lower level.


You could do the other thing.  You could say, Let’s start at 200 percent of poverty.  If we find that we still have money left over, then roll up.


So, these are other ways that you can have the state say, We want to have a commitment to expand where possible, but let’s make sure that it’s affordable.


A fourth that I wanted to address was one that was also mentioned just above, which was the issue of:  Should there be asset limits and asset tests in Medi-Cal but not in the Healthy Families Program?


I think probably the other panel dealing with program simplification issues will deal with this a lot more.  I think that’s where much of the crux of the problem is.  But I just wanted to mention that there are some economic research issues in this as well.


There has been some studies that indicate that assets tests actually are, in many cases, economically counterproductive.  And the reason this is, is because what happens is when you’re a low-income family on Medicaid, or some of the other programs, you find that you can’t save money, and that, in fact, if you save one dollar over the line, if your savings goes over one, you’re kicked off the program.  So what does this do?  This essentially says, Don’t save money.  Go out and spend it instead.


Well, obviously in many cases we would like to have low-income families save money so they can help prepare themselves to do things like pay for better education, maybe pay for a better car if they need it.  So, it’s useful to have incentives to save more.  Assets tests are counterproductive.


The final issue that I wanted to mention is that there’s another possibility that wasn’t really addressed, as far as I could tell, in the state’s proposal, and that’s to do with something that’s called a “Public Health Initiative.”  


The information from HHS indicated that it was possible to craft something like this.  There are various ways that this Public Health Initiative, which is a vague concept but you could crystalize it at the state, but to help people who are low-income families and children, even if they aren’t necessarily enrolled in Medicaid or Healthy Families.  Excuse me, Medi-Cal.


So one possibility that I think has at least had some discussion in the state is to try to create a program for enabling services that can help improve access for low-income families.  One thing that I guess I’m aware of -- I’ve done a lot of research on immigrants -- is that certainly a major problem in California are problems of language access; that in many cases, there are so many difficulties, and when a doctor and a patient can’t communicate with one another, how can you have a decent diagnosis, how can you have patients following the orders?  You don’t even have decent access.


So, translation is one of the types of services that you could create grant programs to help expand those sorts of services under the aegis of the SCHIP waiver.


So that’s another possibility of the type of initiative that this waiver could be used to create something beyond and to augment an insurance expansion.


I’m just about to wrap up.


The final point I want to make is -- again, I know here’s another panel talking about simplification issues.  I really wanted to say my colleagues at the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities have been doing a lot of work on enrollment in SCHIP and Medicaid for many years and on simplification issues.  Simplification efforts really do work.  They help make it easier for people to come in.  And not only that, they improve the public’s perception of the programs so that the public programs now don’t seem like this onerous Byzantine process.  And in the end, they help everyone.  They help the public in general by making these programs more family friendly.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Mr. Ku.


Rather than have Members ask questions now, I think I’d really like to ask that we have each of the presenters present and then save questions until after all the presenters are finished.


So Mr. Neuschler, welcome.


MR. EDWARD NEUSCHLER:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and Members of the committee.  I’m Ed Neuschler with the Institute for Health Policy Solutions.  We’re an independent nonprofit organization that works to develop creative and workable solutions to health care financing and coverage problems.


A couple of months ago we got a grant from the California Health Care Foundation to look at issues of the prevalence of employer coverage and the conditions under which people get employer coverage who are in the Healthy Families income range.  I think that’s exactly the kind of thing you want to look at as you talk about expanding Healthy Families.


Let me start by saying that we think expanding the Healthy Families Program to cover uninsured parents as well as their children is absolutely wise public policy.  It’s clear that there’s no way you’re going to be able to expand coverage for those low-income, uninsured folks without public subsidies.  And it’s also very clear that covering parents is important for the children as well as for the parents themselves.  As states like Wisconsin have found, they do a lot better job of reaching the uninsured kids when they can bring in the parents as well.


But the data that we’ve looked at strongly suggests that you need to be careful in this expansion if you want to avoid crowd-out.  And that, again, is the phenomenon where the public coverage tends to substitute for existing employer coverage rather than going to folks who are really uninsured.


So with the goal of avoiding crowd-out in mind, we looked at recent survey data to try to look at when private employer coverage is and is not likely to be available to parents in the Healthy Families income range.  And I want to emphasize that income range because we took Medi-Cal as a given.  While it’s there in our data, we were really focused on the 100 to 200 percent of poverty and the 200 to 250.


We found that private employer coverage is already widespread among these families.  If you look in the 133 to 200 percent of poverty range, just over 60 percent of California parents with countable incomes in that range had employer coverage in 1999.  That was about twice as many as were uninsured.  A little under 30 percent were uninsured.  If you look at the next group, the 200 to 250 percent of poverty, three times as many parents had employer coverage as were uninsured.


Another important fact that’s sometimes overlooked is the fact that being insured or being uninsured is not a permanent state.  National data from the Census Bureau, a longitudinal study -- one of the few -- found that when people lose health insurance coverage, half of them get it back again, or get some coverage back again, within less than six months.  So there is a lot of turnover in insurance status.


Because employer coverage is so prevalent in your target income ranges, the impact of the pending expansion of Healthy Families, by which I mean whether and to what extent it will reduce the uninsured population, will be strongly affected over time by decisions that employers and workers make about continuing their contributions to employer-based coverage.  


We think it’s important not to underestimate the risks here.  The financial incentives are pretty strong.  Average premiums for family coverage in California are now approaching $6,000 a year, which is a lot of money.  And if you think of it from the employer’s point of view, it’s a sizable share of what they pay to low-income workers.  If you’ve got somebody making $10 an hour, that’s about $20,000 a year.  Six thousand for family coverage is 30 percent of the salary.  Of course, it’s split between the employer and the worker, but it’s a pretty sizable chunk.


Both the employer and the worker could benefit greatly if the worker chose to enroll instead in the state program that required a lower out-of-pocket contribution.


Now, obviously no employer’s going to cut back on their employment-based health benefits if only a few of their workers would qualify for public coverage.  But we found that more than 40 percent of California parents have countable incomes below 20 percent of poverty, and almost half have countable incomes below 250 percent of poverty.


A public program that potentially offers coverage to such a large segment of the state’s population may, in effect, send a signal to employers to rethink their role in providing health insurance.  At these income levels, many employers will have sizable numbers of workers who have families and who meet the income standards for public coverage.


Businesses that employ a large number of those workers and do offer coverage will find themselves at a disadvantage relative to competing firms that do not offer health insurance and can therefore offer higher wages.


We believe this concern is not simply theoretical.  Rhode Island has their RItCare Program, which is free; it hasn’t charged premiums in the past.  It covers children up to 250 percent of poverty and parents to 185 percent.  After a year or two of operation, they experienced budget overruns and a soaring caseload that was attributed at least in part to shifts from private employer coverage.  That state is now moving to adopt policies, including a premium assistance program called RiteShare, that are aimed at encouraging rather than crowding out employer coverage.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  On that comment, Mr. Neuschler.  Do they have provisions in place in Rhode Island comparable to California’s crowd-out mechanisms?


MR. NEUSCHLER:  Previously they did not.  They were free and they--


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So the data regarding the overruns were pre-crowd-out protection?


MR. NEUSCHLER:  Right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MR. NEUSCHLER:  But for these reasons, we believe there is a substantial risk that a broad public program for working families, if you don’t probably design it, could, over time, lead to a major shift of parents and children out of current employer-based coverage and into the expanded public program at great cost to the state, with potentially little reduction in the number of uninsured.


In order to minimize this kind of crowd-out, we recommend that you give serious consideration to eligibility firewalls, we call them, and sliding scale contribution requirements.  If, in addition, you were to adopt other policies to encourage rather than undermine employment-based coverage, then the firewalls could be made less restrictive.


We’ve already talked about the three-month look-back.  We believe that a three-month is probably a sensible look-back period for children, but we think, given the financial incentives, you may want to think about a longer period when you’ve got parents involved.


We took a look at national data on how long people stay uninsured.  Can’t get this at the state level, but at the national level, we found that, if you had a longer look-back period, it would not disadvantage those most in need of coverage.


Although there is lot of turning and a lot of people who lose insurance for short periods, if you look at those who are uninsured as of today, most of them have been uninsured for quite a long period of time.  In the Healthy Families income range nationally, more than three-quarters of parents who were uninsured in a given month had been uninsured for a year or more.  And more than 80 percent had been uninsured for half a year or more.  


So, if you look at those who are uninsured now, a lot of them have been uninsured for a good, long period of time.  But looking now also misses that large group that changes jobs, is out of work for two months.  They lose insurance for a few months but then they get another job and they’re back.


By requiring applicants to have been without employer coverage for six or twelve months, subject to appropriate exceptions, of course, you could focus your resources on low-income families who are chronically uninsured and avoid bringing under the public coverage umbrella the large number who are uninsured only for brief periods.


Now, the longer look-back period can help to discourage crowd-out, but it may also be useful to adopt another sort of firewall aimed more directly at parents who have access to employer coverage and their employers.  Minnesota’s already been mentioned.  They have a four-month general look-back period, but they also deny eligibility to anyone who was offered coverage by their current employer within the past 18 months, even if that employer dropped the health benefits.  And that’s the sort of state policy message to the employers:  If you drop health benefits, your folks are not going to be eligible for the public program for some fairly significant period of time.


Now, there are exceptions and it pertains to the current employer.  So if people have changed jobs and lost it that way, then they’re not excluded.  Then, just the four-month applies.


Completely denying coverage to people who have had employer coverage in the recent past may be overly restrictive.  An alternative way to discourage folks from dropping or declining employer coverage could be to charge premiums for public coverage, as you’re planning on doing.  Those, of course, are controversial.  It is clear that public programs achieve their greatest participation when there is not a significant charge for enrollment.  But there is a great risk that a free public program  would also be a very expensive way of refinancing existing coverage.  It would be attractive to the many low- and modest-income families who currently have to pay out of their own paychecks for employer-sponsored insurance.


We took a look at sliding scale premiums that would go with workers’ wages rather than with family income.  We believe doing that could encourage working families to take advantage of employer coverage that’s available to them while maintaining reasonable access to public coverage for working families who cannot get employer coverage.


The reason for this is that we looked at the relationship between coverage rates and wages versus coverage rates and family income, and we found that the better correlation is with wages.  In fact, once you get above $30,000 in annual wages, or about $15 an hour, 89 percent of parents in California have employer coverage, while fewer than 8 percent are uninsured.


I suppose we shouldn’t be too surprised about this.  The strong correlation just reflects the way employers compete for labor.  But it did suggest to us that you might consider basing your sliding scale premiums on individual parents’ wage levels rather than total family income.  That way, if you have two workers, each of them only earning $15,000, where they’re not very likely to be offered coverage by their employer, they would pay a lower premium than when you’ve got one parent earning $30,000 who’s much, much more likely to be offered coverage at work.  In that way, we think you could help better align your incentives for the public program with labor market reality and discourage income-eligible families, who’ve got the private coverage available to them, from either dropping it or declining it in the first place.


We also think there’s another approach that you could use to encourage rather than undermine employer coverage, as well as reduce your state cost per family coverage.  Helping workers to pay their share of the cost necessary to enroll in family coverage that is available to them from their employer would leverage those employer contributions and could provide comparable coverage for the family at lower costs than the public program.  You actually already have this authority in the Healthy Families statute at the moment.  It’s called purchasing credits.  I understand there’s some technical flaws that might need to be dealt with.


A purchasing credit initiative with appropriate standards and safeguards could be an alternative to simply denying eligibility based on availability of employer coverage.  It would also help to avoid escalating crowd-out over time because it would allow eligible families to enroll and employment-based coverage that becomes available to them -- as they change jobs and move around -- rather than making them stay in the public coverage if they want to retain needed financial assistance.


Our data work on this, we were surprised actually to find that the highest percentage, if you look just at uninsured parents now, not everybody in the income range, but if you look at uninsured parents, the highest percentage that had access to employer coverage, and this is national data, it was about 45 percent of uninsured parents right in the Healthy Families range:  133 to 200 percent of poverty had access to employer coverage.  What this suggests to us is that a significant number of uninsured low-income parents are uninsured simply because they can’t afford the out-of-paycheck contribution that would be required to enroll in the employer plan, particularly for family coverage.


We also think that funding for parents’ coverage also presents an opportunity to pursue innovative pilot programs to expand work-based coverage as an adjunct to the Healthy Families expansion.  These initiatives would develop new approaches aimed at businesses that have not traditionally offered health insurance coverage -- primarily small firms with a majority of low-wage workers.


County organized health systems like CalOPTIMA and the small employer purchasing pool Pacific Health Advantage would be likely venues for innovative pilot programs aimed at reaching workers in traditionally uninsured low-wage small firms.


The reason you might want to do that is that doing coverage through the workplace might reach some uninsured people who are reluctant to participate in public programs and would also allow them to retain their source of coverage as their earnings increase, thus rewarding work and career development.  And it’s a side benefit:  If you’ve got a work-based program, then you get some higher wage folks who might have been uninsured before covered without having to spend any state money.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Neuschler, I would like to ask whether you could summarize a little more quickly.  I’m afraid we’re going to run out of--


MR. NEUSCHLER:  I’m at my last paragraph.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, I appreciate that.  I apologize.  


MR. NEUSCHLER:  No, that’s fine.


In closing, I just want to emphasize that we do not see the risk of crowd-out as a reason not to expand Healthy Families coverage to parents, nor do we see our findings as suggesting a particular income standard.  I think that’s more a latent setup to what you think you can afford.  We do think it’s clear, however, that the higher the income level you want to use, the stronger your anti-crowd-out provisions will need to be.  Nevertheless, we think you can develop innovative policies that will allow you to cover uninsured parents and kids without merely substituting.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I know we’re going to have lots of questions for you, and I want to just caution Members, let’s get through the other two speakers because I think we’re going to hear some interesting, different information provided.  I’m certainly anxious to hear from Ms. Toccoli, but Mr. Gilmer is our next speaker.


Thank you.  Welcome.


PROFESSOR TODD GILMER:  Thank you.


Todd Gilmer.  I’m Assistant Professor in Department of Family and Preventive Medicine at University of California, San Diego.  I hope you received a copy of my testimony.  I got it out later last evening.


Thank you for inviting me to be here this afternoon.  With my colleague, Richard Kronick at UCSD, I have analyzed the effects of health insurance expansions on health insurance coverage in four states.  Our work seeks to determine to what extent these expansions in coverage -- in Minnesota, Washington, Tennessee, and Oregon -- led to decreases in the number of uninsured and to what extent they appear to crowd out private insurance.


I’d like to acknowledge the support of the California Policy Research Center which funded this research.  I plan on providing a brief description of the programs in these four states, to summarize our findings, and consider the implications of these findings for the proposed expansion of public programs in California.


MinnesotaCare, began in 1992 and one of the oldest state programs, offers subsidized health coverage to parents and children in families with incomes below 275 percent of the federal poverty level, or FPL, and adults without children to 175 percent FPL.  The Oregon Health Plan, implemented in ’94, extends Medicaid eligibility to all Oregonians below 100 percent of FPL.  Washington State’s Basic Health Plan offers subsidized health insurance for all state residents below 200 percent of poverty and offers market price coverage to adults above 200 percent.  Tennessee’s TennCare contracts with HMOs to provide care to Medicaid eligibles, children under 19 without access to health insurance coverage, dislocated workers, and adults with proof of uninsurability.


None of them are exactly like the way you’re proposing today but they’re similar, and they’ve been around for several years.  They maybe give you some idea of what would happen with the expansion here.


These programs vary in their efforts to avoid the crowd-out of private health insurance.  MinnesotaCare, the Basic Health Plan in Washington, and TennCare all have sliding scale premiums based on family income, while Oregon’s Health Plan requires only a small monthly payment for persons not traditionally eligible for Medicaid.  


Minnesota and Tennessee have extensive restrictions designed to minimize crowd-out.  In Minnesota, a person is ineligible for MinnesotaCare if their employer agrees to pay 50 percent of their coverage or if they’ve had insurance in the last four months.  


Tennessee has categorical restrictions as well as a steep premium gradient at 200 percent of the federal poverty level.  Neither Washington or Oregon have eligibility qualifications designed explicitly to address crowd-out, although the limited range of income eligibility in Oregon’s program means that there’s probably little health insurance coverage to crowd out; it’s limited to two people under 100 percent of the poverty level.


These programs do enroll substantial numbers of low-income adults.  TennCare is the largest program, enrolling over one-quarter of Tennessee adults with income below 200 percent of poverty in its first year of operation, and the Oregon Health Plan enrolled approximately 15 percent of low-income adult Oregonians from ’95 through 1998.  Enrollment in the Washington Basic Health Plan increased throughout the 1994 to 1998 period, rising to 17 percent of the low-income population by 1998.  MinnesotaCare is primarily a program for children and enrolled relatively few adults, averaging only 6 percent of low-income adults over the 1994 to 1998 period.


We provide a simplified view of the effects of these programs with the analysis 

in which we compare the insurance status for the five years post-program implementation, that is 1994-98, with the insurance status in the five years 

pre-enrollment, ’89 through ’93, among adults below 200 percent of FPL.


I apologize; I had some overheads, but the projector wasn’t set up, and it’s kind of crowded.  There are some statistics and I’m happy to repeat them.


Public coverage increased  by 8.5 percent in Oregon.  This is just a simple 

pre-/post-analysis in the state without controlling for anything else that’s going on.  Eight point five [8.5] percent in Oregon after the expansion, 13.1 percent in Tennessee, 2.1 percent in Minnesota, and 4.3 percent in Washington.  These are declines in the number of uninsured adults under 200 percent of poverty, and they range from about 13 to 2 percent.  So, a large range but significant numbers.


From the raw data, these increases in public coverage were accompanied, for the most part, by reductions both in the number of insured and the number with private insurance.


We use multivariate logistic regressions to estimate the effects of state expansions while controlling for other demographic and economic factors that affect insurance coverage.  The results from these analyses suggest that most of the increase in public coverage resulting from expansion of state-subsidized programs occurs as a result of the decrease in the uninsured, with less change resulting from crowding out of private insurance.


In Oregon, we estimate virtually no change in the number covered by private insurance as public coverage increases; that is, there’s virtually no evidence of crowding out of private insurance in Oregon.


In Tennessee, we estimate that for every additional 100 persons enrolled in the public coverage program, there will be 62 fewer uninsured and 38 fewer with private insurance coverage, a crowd-out rate of 38 percent.  And that defers from some earlier data on the program, but the methods might be slightly different.


For MinnesotaCare, we estimate 26 percent crowd-out.  And respondents in the CPS show relatively little evidence of Washington Basic Health Plan enrollment; however, we estimate 31 percent crowd-out in the Basic Health Plan.


Only in Tennessee is there a statistically significant estimate of crowd-out.  In the other three states, the 95 percent confidence interval for the estimated effect includes zero.


And I had some graphs to show that a little easier.


The estimated program effects we found to vary significantly by income group, with crowd-out increasing as adults with higher incomes enroll in these programs.  Combining the four states together, we estimate virtually no crowd-out among persons below 100 percent of the federal poverty level.  Among adults between 100 to 200 percent of FPL, we estimate that approximately one-third of the increase in coverage is coming from crowd-out of private insurance.  Among adults between 200 to 300 percent of the FPL, we estimate that almost 60 percent of the increase in public coverage results from a decline in private insurance.


Although the estimate of crowd-out among adults above 200 percent seems quite large, the number of persons with incomes in this range enrolling in these state programs is relatively small.  As a result of very low levels of enrollment of persons with incomes above 200 percent of FPL, we have less confidence in our estimates of the extent of crowd-out for persons in this income range.  There’s less data to actually estimate this on.


Although the expansions of public coverage in these four states had some positive effect in reducing the number of uninsured and led to relatively little crowd-out of private insurance, the larger picture is that, even after these programs were implemented, there were still very large numbers of low-income, uninsured persons in each state.  Data from the Current Population Survey show that approximately 30 percent of the residents with incomes below 200 percent of FPL remained uninsured in Washington, Oregon, Minnesota, and Tennessee, even after their programs were implemented.  


It is clear that the most significant challenge in making public programs work is getting eligible persons enrolled.  Worrying about crowd-out of private insurance should be a second-order concern.


Data from the March 2000 Current Population Survey show that there were 6.8 million uninsured Californians in 1999.  Four point six [4.6] million of the uninsured were in families with incomes below 200 percent of the federal poverty level.  Approximately 1.4 million were children in families with incomes below 250 percent, and an additional 1.7 million were parents in these families.


I suggest to you that the largest problem in designing a program to expand public coverage is to design a program that will allow and induce significant numbers of the uninsured to enroll.  


While evidence about crowding out of private insurance should not be ignored, evidence from other states that have expanded coverage suggest that a relatively small part of the coverage expansion resulted from crowding out of private insurance coverage.


Thank you for the opportunity to testify.  I look forward to answering any questions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think there will be many questions.  Thank you for your presentation.


Our final speaker, Ms. Betty Jo Toccoli.  Hopefully, we’ll hear good news from the small business sector to determine whether or not employers are just dying to drop coverage if we increase anything above 200 percent of federal poverty level.


Welcome.


MS. BETTY JO TOCCOLI:  Thank you.


Chairman and committee members, staff, and my peers here at the table, I’m Betty Jo Toccoli, and I’m president of the California Small Business Association.  We’re a nonprofit, grass roots, small business group.  We represent 187,000 small business owners, and we coordinate the small business issues for 77 small business organizations.


We’re delighted to be part of a conversation on crowd-out.  Probably, we’re going to come at it in a little different angle, but I think there will be some duplication of what some of the other speakers have already indicated.


You may ask why Small Business is even interested in Healthy Families or waivers or Medi-Cal, et al., of these topics, and the answer’s very simple:  health care is very high on our members’ priority.  Each fall we poll our membership to determine the issue priorities for the coming year, and access to affordable health care has been in the top four since the 1986 White House Conference on Small Business.


The majority of our members, 87 percent, provide coverage for their employees.  We did a 1999 study that showed 72 percent of small businesses with 50 or fewer employees offer health insurance coverage to their employees, and this was a random selection versus our coverage.  And 60 percent of those small businesses pay 100 percent of the premium for their employees’ coverage.


Of the small businesses not offering insurance, key statistic:  87.5 percent employ five or fewer employees.


Now, the issue for us is covering employees’ dependents, which is the spouse and the children, because, unfortunately, only 15 percent of small business employers contribute to the cost of the dependent coverage.  So, there is a major need for a solution as far as small business owners are concerned.  And as always, price is at the top of the category.


Small employers would prefer to cover children of their employees through the workplace if they could find an affordable quality product.  In many respects, this small group coverage means that we have an inferior product to what a well person can get in an individual policy.


A CSBA study indicated that small employers would be willing to pay $20 per month per one child, $40 for two children, and $60 for three or more children.  The study also showed that employees would be able to pay a portion.  It’s probably less than this, and we could not determine the amount with the small statistical number of unemployed children of employees that we were able to reach, and we have another study planned.


So, what we think -- is it a properly designed purchasing credit? -- would enable more small employers to offer family coverage.


And last but not least, small employers need to retain their employees.  We recognize in today’s tight market that offering family health coverage is an important ingredient in retaining our employees.


Now, let’s discuss crowd-out and why this may have been blown out of proportion.


Most small business owners have never heard of Healthy Families, and none have heard of crowd-out.  They don’t even know what it means.  They do not know how to make the Healthy Families Program work for their employees, let alone know how to massage it to make it work for them.  It would create an administrative nightmare for small business owners to have some of their employees and family members covered through Healthy Families and others covered through their place of employment.  There is nothing more critical than simplicity and the use of the business owner’s time to make money for the business to profit.


Small business owners recognize that asking an employee and their dependents to sit out 90 days, or 120 days, or 60 days, with no coverage at all is a sure-fired recipe to instantly lose that experienced employee.  And then when it’s all done, they might not all be eligible.  Small employers want to treat all employees alike, but when it comes to crowd-out, we believe the things that cause crowd-out are this headline in USA Today, “Small Businesses Dread Benefit Cost Increase,” the increase in workers comp, the increase in energy prices, the increase in payroll costs, and so that is what we think keeps small businesses from adding on to part of that premium or all of that premium for their employees and their families.


Speaking from a small business position, we’d like to see consistency in the waiver.  Two areas I’m going to mention:  The 250 percent, again, keeping it simple is extremely important, and we think it should be the same.  And then the amount of the proposed premium sharing for parental coverage seems reasonable to small businesses.  We would be so ecstatic if we could provide coverage for $20 or $25 or even $50.  But we do respect that the advocates for low-income families feel this is too high, and they probably have a better handle on it than we do.  


How to make Healthy Families work at the workplace:  Give employees and employers the option to take a payroll deduction at the workplace.  This allows for quicker enrollment and better retention of families in the program.  


Use the Healthy Families purchasing credit to provide incremental step-ups in the small employer’s share of premium.  The start-up small business that becomes successful can pay an increasing share of health premiums.


We need to provide education and incentives to new start-up businesses to provide health insurance.  Per the U.S. Small Business Administration, the majority of new businesses are women and minority owned.  Let’s start the habit with them of offering coverage with these new employees so that they don’t think they can do business without it.  


And then we would encourage more outreach to the small business community.  Call it a “shared premium.”  Just like families want to pay a share, so do small business owners.  And this again, of course, argues for a purchasing credit.


Use the PacAdvantage purchasing pool as much as possible.  It’s not well known to small employers, but it does provide a very simple mechanism for small business.


And last but not least, we need to get insurance agents to recognize Healthy Families and PacAdvantage as viable programs for participants.  We hear far too many stories that it’s positioned as a “carrier of last resort.”


And last but not least, let’s concentrate on getting the uninsured insured.  This means thinking outside the box and not looking at everything from a negative viewpoint.  No one is more concerned about taxpayer dollars being properly spent than the small business owner.  But if we have a chance to cover the 85 percent of children and spouses that do not have health coverage at the risk of dealing with the 15 percent who might consider crowd-out, let’s cover the 85 percent.  And we pledge to work with you to solve the problem of crowd-out of the 15 percent.


Thank you for the opportunity of appearing before you today.  We believe getting involved also in self-regulation because we want to solve problems.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your testimony.  I think we’re actually going to probably catch up on a lot of time here since my colleagues have left, and I may be the only one who has lots of questions for each of the panelists.  They’ll probably be joining us, though, before long.


I certainly have questions for all of the speakers that are before us, but before I begin, Ms. Toccoli, do you have a written copy of your testimony that we can share with--


MS. TOCCOLI:  I do, and I agreed with staff that I would bring enough for your committee.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wonderful.  The gentleman behind you will go ahead and take that.  Thank you so much.  That’s the one written testimony I didn’t have, so you may get off fairly easy in the questions.  No, but thank you for your testimony.


I certainly would like to thank all of you.  I think this is the part of the discussion that is very important to me as we start to talk about expansion of Healthy Families or some non-parent, employer-based coverage for non-parents that can’t access Healthy Families however much we may expand it.  So certainly this information is very helpful.  


I have a number of questions for each of the speakers, and I’d like to ask Mr. Ku -- initially, I’d like to ask you, from your discussion of other states’ experiences, specifically Tennessee and Hawaii, the crowd-out hasn’t been a problem.  But as the earlier presenters, Mr. Neuschler as well as Mr. Gilmer, indicated, if you look at the numbers, a lot of the families with higher income range have employer coverage which would lead to believe that crowd-out would occur.


Why, in your opinion, hasn’t it occurred in the states of Hawaii and Tennessee?  Is it that the state programs cater to different populations than we could anticipate here in California, at least those populations that are eligible for employer coverage?  Or that the people in the higher income levels believe they’re not eligible for government programs?  How do you explain the absence of that problem in those states?


MR. KU:  First of all, Hawaii, I guess I should mention, is a special case.  Hawaii is the only state in the country that has an employer mandate for health insurance.  In fact, they are the only state with the so-called ERISA exemption in this area, so that, in point of fact, the employers have to continue to offer it where possible.  Employees, in fact, are not eligible.  Their crowd-out protection is that, therefore, if you’re working in a firm that offers health insurance -- and virtually all firms have to offer it -- you weren’t eligible for the QUEST program.


So again, it’s a fairly basic anti-crowd-out protection that safeguarded the situation in Hawaii.  


In Tennessee, again, the information that we had indicated that it was a similar situation.  Where there were basic anti-crowd-out protections, and that included the waiting period, some of the premiums seemed to work fairly well.  The only place where we could detect statistically significant evidence of a reduction in private coverage -- again, was not employer-based coverage but was the non-group group -- was the individual coverage that people have, which I think many people would say basically it’s too high priced for low- and moderate-income families anyway, to be honest.


So, I think that it was the combination of the basic policies that existed in terms of the anti-crowd-out safeguards that seemed to be doing a reasonable job.  Again, I mean, have these been studied perfectly or do we know all that’s possible about them?  I don’t think so.  But the evidence that we saw indicated that it worked reasonably well.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask, if we were to somehow achieve the waiver to 250 percent of poverty here in California, would you have recommendations on putting in some significant anti-crowd-out provisions, and if so, what might they look like?


MR. KU:  I think it’s a tricky issue because part of the question gets back to some of the simplicity questions.  Right now the policies that exist for children are that you have a basic three-month waiting period.


Let’s say you make it now three months, six months, or you add on some additional bells and whistles.  It’s not clear to me what that buys you in additional crowd-out protection.  Theoretically, I can see something of it.  On the other hand, it also takes away the simplification effort if sometimes you’ll say, Yes, your children are eligible but you, yourself, are not eligible.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which is very confusing.


MR. KU:  It makes it confusing.  So the tradeoff then between trying to do more thorough crowd-out protections for parents and then having simplicity for the whole family and for the kids strikes me as a tough dilemma.  At the very least, it does seem to me that if you went forward with keeping the basic crowd-out policies intact, it would be reasonable to have some monitoring effort to continue to…[portion lost in recording].


But again, you have this dilemma:  How do you keep it simple for the whole family so the whole family has eligibility, and then how do you try to monitor the situation a little better?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  These are some of the questions I’m going to ask the other panelists.  Thank you.  


I really would like to take all of your collective credentials and minds and brilliance and stick you in a room for a couple of months and have you come up with a solution.  So, let’s find a way to figure out how to do that in a less extreme way.


Mr. Neuschler, could you explain a little bit about the types of pilots you’re envisioning to reach workers in low-wage, small firms?  I mean, I think the really difficult nut to crack are those low-wage service industry or restaurant workers or retail or farm workers or hotel and restaurant.  This is the challenge.


MR. NEUSCHLER:  Right.  If you take a look at some of the data from national employer surveys, you’ll find that a majority of employers do offer coverage, particularly once you get above size 50.  You’re up in the 85, 90, 95 percent of employers offer coverage.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s talk about 2 to 50 employees.


MR. NEUSCHLER:  If you look at the under-50 and you segment them by what’s the wage mix of their workforce, and look particularly at businesses -- and this is only about one-fifth of businesses nationwide -- you have a majority of workers earning very, very low wages, down around $6.50 an hour.  That segment of the employer population very, very rarely offers health insurance; only about 15 percent of those employers.


So, it seemed to us that, if you want to generally encourage work-based coverage and encourage people looking to work as the place where they get their benefits and where they can advance and become more economically self-sufficient, you could probably focus public funds on that segment without having a risk of crowding out existing employer coverage, because those sorts of employers generally don’t offer it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What if we just looked at non-parents, 2 to 50 employees, and 250 percent--


MR. NEUSCHLER:  Oh, yes, there’s a good chance--


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’re looking at about two to five million people in California.


MR. NEUSCHLER:  One of the things we thought is that you could design a pilot aimed at those kind of businesses which would use existing federally matchable funds for parents and kids, and by doing that, it would require only very limited additional subsidies to get at the non-parents.  We’re trying to do some more work on the age of those non-parents.  We suspect they’re relatively young, and if so, are therefore relatively less expensive compared to others.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Relatively healthier.


MR. NEUSCHLER:  Relatively healthier.  And we think that you could probably leverage the federal and state funding for the parents and kids to create sort of a critical mass that then you wouldn’t have to add very much to be able to bring in the non-parents as well.  


And you’ve got a couple of possible venues for that.  Your county-operated health systems are maybe in a position to do that.  We know that CalOPTIMA has been working with some community groups and stakeholders in their county, talking around these kinds of ideas.  As Ms. Toccoli mentioned, PacAdvantage might be a venue for that kind of thing.


Now, it’s a different kind of a thing.  You’re talking about reaching employers who haven’t provided coverage, and so probably most of the subsidy is going to come from public funds.  But you might have the benefit if you subsidize the low-income workers and then you also provide a venue where the higher income workers could get in without any public funds.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I certainly have more questions of each of the speakers, but I want to take a moment to introduce and welcome Senator Wesley Chesbro, who chairs the Senate Subcommittee on Health, Human Services, Veterans and Labor.  It’s a very long title.  Welcome.  Who, as I mentioned earlier, was participating in a mental health joint committee, I understand.


I’m happy to continue with questions, but I certainly want to give others a chance, if they have questions to any of the speakers, certainly Mr. Ku and Mr. Neuschler.


SENATOR SOTO:  They might have already touched on this situation.  You were just talking about younger families, and I happen to think about big families; people where they’re making very little money but have very big families.  They couldn’t possibly afford so much for the parent, each parent a different amount, and then so much for each child.


Now, you maybe already addressed this.  Is there a way that you could put a cap on?  If there is a big family -- say there’s six kids and the two parents -- who can pay for all of that if you’re making $6 an hour?  Is there a way that you could cap it?  Did you address that?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We sort of have a cap in place that’s proposed for premiums under Healthy Families now.  I think if you have 4 to 12 children and you’re two parents, what is it, a $54 cap that’s proposed?  Is that the cap?


​​​​​​​​​​​​​​MR. KU:  There was a cap in the proposal ______________________ which already existed in its current Healthy Families Program.  The extra people are the children.  And so, there’s a cap on the number of children.  I forget, I think it’s past the number of three or four.


MS.  _______________:  For families under 150 percent of poverty, it’s capped with two kids, so it would be a max of $54 a month; and above 150 percent of poverty, it’s capped for families with three kids, or $77 per month.


MR. KU:  So the issue that you brought up is already part of this proposal.


SENATOR SOTO:  I understand.  Okay, fine; there is a cap now.  However, some of the families I know and that I represent, $77 a month is -- just forget it, they can’t do it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, that’s the debate about the cost of premiums.


You know, I’ve just been reminded by staff, I really have lots of questions to these panelists, but we actually have one more panel of speakers and we have public comment.  I’d like to ask whether we can move forward, unless there are comments and questions by--


SENATOR SOTO:  Fine, but I have to leave at 3:30.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay, that’s fine.  We all have to leave at four, and I don’t want to cut short the testimony.


I really welcome and appreciate, gosh, all your testimony because I think it really is the core of the issue, and I think that I may invite you all back, some of you back, depending on your testimony -- all back -- as we move forward.  I think it’s been very informative, and once again, if we could find a way to set you all in a room to figure out how to deal with this either perceived or real problem of crowd-out by expanding to 250, I just wish we could do that.


SENATOR SOTO:  It might not be a bad idea to have a workshop even, where we could get all of our frustrations out on these poor people.


[Laughter.]


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I particularly thank the representative from the business community to say the pragmatic, honest, non-academic -- with all due respect to the academicians -- solutions to this issue.  Thank you.  


Unless there are other questions from committee members, I want to invite the next panelists forward, all at one time as well.


Dr. Robert Ross from the California Endowment, as well as Ms. Vera, the staff attorney from Western Center on Law and Poverty, and Ms. Ibarra, the chief executive officer for Alameda Alliance for Health.


Members, this is our last panel, but I do want to allow time for questions as well as public comment after this panel.  This is the discussion “Moving Towards a Seamless System.”


Welcome, Dr. Ross.  You are first on our list.


DR. ROBERT K. ROSS:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and members of the committee.  I appreciate your taking the time on this very important issue.  For the purposes of the time for my co-panelists, I’ll be exceedingly brief and to the point.


We at the California Endowment are California’s largest health foundation.  Our commitment is to the under-served, particularly with an emphasis on multiculturalism in health and those that are marginalized and disenfranchised from the health delivery system.


We congratulate the Administration and the Governor in trying to expand the Healthy Families Program.  Obviously, we think it’s a great idea, and we obviously support everything that came out of the panelists before us around the issues regarding crowd-out and making it easier for families to participate in the system.


I want to do basically two things.  One is I want to report on a study that we commissioned that has to do with outreach to these populations.  We know that the challenge of the number of unenrolled eligibles today, even before expansion, the challenge of unenrolled eligibles is a challenge that will have to be won in the neighborhoods and in the communities.  


We commissioned a study by The Tomás Rivera Policy Institute last year called the “California Minority Public Health Insurance Coverage Study” in an effort to better understand the reasons why Latinos, African Americans, Asian Americans, and Native Americans do not enroll in these programs.  This is of particular significance because an estimated nearly three out of four uninsured children and their families in the state of California are from communities of color, and we know that many of them -- in fact, nearly half of that group -- represent immigrant populations in communities.


Although the study is still underway, we’d like to report some preliminary findings from focus groups of these various ethnicities.


The three common barriers to enrollment identified by Latinos, by African Americans and Native Americans are:


Number one, basically paperwork.  The bureaucratic requirements and bureaucratic enrollment process is still too complex, and I think much of that was already uttered and mentioned in the first panel.


Secondly, the issue of stigma; that we still have these health insurance programs, both Medi-Cal and Healthy Families, that carry the stigma of being government programs and that families feel that they’re looked down upon when they’re enrolling in the process of trying to get these kids coverage and their families coverage.


And finally, a lack of effective outreach and information about the programs themselves; again, particularly tailored to many of these immigrant communities in terms of appropriate cultural competency in approaching them about the programs and how they work.


Additionally, and particularly among Latinos, the fear of the public charge issue.  Although this has been dealt with, as you know, technically and legally, the perception of being penalized for applying for these benefits is still there, and there’s still a lot of work that needs to be done at the grass roots and at the neighborhood level to make sure that this myth is disavowed.  And certainly among the African American focus group, the sentiment that the application questions were too intrusive.  And also among Native Americans, a lack of awareness by the Healthy Families enrollment staff that children in federally recognized tribes are not required to pay a premium or a co-payment.  So we still have work to do there, apparently, at least according to the focus group.


In closing, we think that in order to solve what would appear to be the three P’s that constitute barriers requiring simplification -- that is, paperwork, the issue of pride, that the families feel stigmatized, and the issue of penalties, that the families may be penalized for applying for these programs -- that those problems need to be dealt with.  And that the state should, in addition to expanding the program, which would be great -- and we agree certainly with the Governor -- but certainly with efforts here to try and get the program to 250 percent, that would be wonderful, but that we need to simplify and dignify this process and simplify and dignify the Healthy Families and Medi-Cal programs.


We are willing, if in fact we are seeing already here,  just based on your questions, the kind of leadership necessary to move the state greater in that direction, we’re willing to put resources on the table as far as enrollment and putting resources where the resources historically have not gone.  And grass roots organizations and neighborhood-based organizations and faith-based organizations, at schools, let’s get these kids and families signed up.  If they’re eligible today, let’s get a 100 percent goal of getting these kids signed up.  We are willing to be a partner with the state, and we want to work side by side with you and want to make certain that we are providing resources to folks in the community that know where these families are, know who they are, can speak to them in their language, can speak to them within their cultural context, and get these kids signed up and covered.


So, thank you for having us here today, and we applaud your efforts and your leadership, Senator Ortiz, Senator Chesbro, Senator Figueroa, Senator Soto, in leading this charge.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much, Dr. Ross, for your comments and pleas.  I’m sure there will be questions from colleagues.  I just want to have all the panelists do their presentation first and then we can go back to questions.


Senator Chesbro, once again, if you’d like to comment or ask questions before we continue with the other panelists.  You’ve not had an opportunity since you’ve been here.


SENATOR WESLEY CHESBRO:  I actually just wanted to make one very, very, little brief comment.  While I’m very interested in all of the issues affecting individual groups, we need to figure out how to adequately do the outreach to get the populations with low enrollment enrolled.  


I have a very large Native American population in my district relative to the rest of the state and have visited the Indian clinics.  There’s other kinds of preconception issues on the part of the Native American population that have stood as barriers to their enrolling in reimbursement programs.  I think there’s a belief, with some validity, that they have sort of a federal entitlement and these clinics are funded for them, and so they don’t really have the need to go try to help these clinics get the reimbursement funding through programs like Healthy Families and Medi-Cal.  


So, there’s special issues there that I look forward to working with you on as well as the issues affecting the other populations that you’re talking about.


DR. ROSS:  Absolutely.  Be thrilled to do that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Ms. Vera, a staff attorney from Western Center on Law and Poverty.  Welcome.


MS. YOLANDA VERA:  Thank you.


I also just wanted to say as well, besides being a staff attorney with the Western Center on Law and Poverty, we also are part of the Health Consumer Alliance, which is a California Endowment-funded collaborative of six legal aid organizations.  We help consumers in Fresno, Sacramento, San Diego, Orange -- let’s see, I think I’m leaving out a few counties -- Oakland and Los Angeles.


I wanted to applaud the Members here for the expansion.  Expanding is a wonderful thing.  I really want to be sure, though, that in order to ensure that the coverage actually reaches the families, that we simplify it so that the system by which they have to enroll is not so complicated they can’t navigate it.


Under federal law, you’re only eligible for Healthy Families if you are not eligible for free Medi-Cal.  So, by law, the two programs are necessarily partnered.  In some ways they’re like an arranged marriage, where, if the two programs have irreconcilable differences, they can’t work together to produce covered families.


So, besides the tortured allegory there -- [laughter] -- I will move forward, and I want to put my comments with regards to streamlining in context by first going through four major differences between the two programs.  I’ve attached a chart within the comments, and I’ll also be referring to some attachments as well too.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Members, it’s page 2 of Ms. Vera’s testimony that’s before you.


MS. VERA:  That’s right, it’s a comparison.


The four major differences I want to focus on are eligible persons, the income limits, resources, and verification.  And then after we just real quickly hit on that, I want to go through what the waiver would do to the application process, given those differences.


Eligible persons:  We all know on the one side Healthy Families currently covers children 18 and younger.  Medi-Cal is a wider number of persons:  elderly, aged, disabled, and different parents and children.  


The income limits:  On the one hand, Healthy Families is one streamlined income eligibility:  250.  The Medi-Cal is much more complicated.  It’s sometimes based on the age of the child, and it varies for parents generally.  Parents are eligible if they’re under 100 percent of poverty.


Resources:  Healthy Families has no resource limit.  On the other hand, however, the Medi-Cal families have to complete a complicated eight-page form.  A sample of the form is attached.  It’s eight pages.  It goes through different types of questions, and families for Medi-Cal have to answer a variety of questions about trust funds, retirement accounts, deferred compensation, money market mutual funds.  If they’re self-employed, they have to list business equipment.  They have questions about livestock, poultry, recreational vehicles, airplanes, snowmobiles.  They answer questions about jewelry, household goods, musical instruments.  The list goes on.


The last difference I want to highlight is on verification.  On the Healthy Families side, applicants are asked to verify their income and their immigration status.  On the Medi-Cal side, they have to verify income, immigration status, resources, residency, immigration status, social security numbers.


And so with that little backdrop, let me go into, then, how does this waiver impact those differences and why do we need to streamline it?  I want to point your attention to the very, very last chart, which is a chart that shows the application process.  It has a family on the top, and a chart, I have to note, my secretary almost killed herself doing yesterday.


But this chart shows how the application process would work if the 1115 waiver was granted.  A family goes in and they would submit a Healthy Families application.  This is the current application as it looks right now.  Under the current system, it will be sent over to EDS.  EDS then has to decide:  Does this application get sent to Medi-Cal or does this application get sent over to Healthy Families?  And to make that determination, they have to figure out and look at the ages of the kids.  They have to look at:  Is this an eligible person or not?  For example, pregnant women and kids 

0 to 1 under 200 percent go to Medi-Cal.  If there are kids age 1 to 5 under 133 percent, they go to Medi-Cal.  Kids ages 6 to 18 under 100 percent go to Medi-Cal, as well as 19- to 20-year-olds, caretaker relatives, and parents under 100.  All other kids 0 to 18 would be sent over on the Healthy Families track, as well as parents under the current proposed waiver from 100 to 200 percent.


So, if they’re on the Medi-Cal track, the Medi-Cal eligibility determination gets made at the county level.  Those families would be requested the detailed verification requirements on income, resources, etc.  The county has so many days to process it.


Now, only, and only if the family is determined ineligible because of resources -- they get to the very bottom -- are they then referred over to Healthy Families.  So, in order to get the benefit of getting shifted over to Healthy Families, you have to answer the detailed questions that come with being a Medi-Cal applicant.


The problems of the process are illustrated with three families, and these aren’t unusual families.  Family Number One, say a two-parent family of four, with kids ages 3 and 7.  They earn 17,000 a year, which is just under the poverty level.  They would get sent down to the Medi-Cal track.  Medi-Cal would request that the family give detailed information about resources and income; and again, only if that family’s resources are over Healthy Families with the parents, and only the parents get sent to Healthy Families.  So, the parents and the kids would be in separate programs.



Example two:  Let’s say next-door neighbors.  Family of four, kids ages 3 and 7.  They make $20,000 a year.  This family would send in their application.  They would not be asked complicated questions about resources, but their 3-year-old would be sent over to Medi-Cal, and the 3-year-old would get the Medi-Cal benefits; whereas, the rest of the family will be put on Healthy Families with a different health plan, different benefits, different doctors.


Next-door neighbor to them earns $23,000 a year.  Same family, same age kids.  This whole family would go over to Healthy Families, no resource questions.


What do we do to alleviate this confusion and these problems?  We make it simple.


We’ve talked a little bit about getting rid of the assets test.  Data from L.A. County shows that less than one percent of applications are actually denied because of the assets.  Why is the test there?  This way it wouldn’t punish and penalize families.  It would allow parents to stay together with the kids and promote family unity.  As a condition of the recent Wisconsin waiver, they’ve waived the asset test for the Medicaid parents.


Second, ease verification requirements.  Verification requirements hinder not only Medi-Cal families, they’re also a problem for Healthy Families applicants as well..  We’ve been receiving stories from Health Consumer Alliances, for example, that even the Healthy Families just requires verification of immigration status and income.  That poses problems because, well, what are acceptable forms?  W-2 forms?  What’s an acceptable business profit-loss statement if you are a self-employed person?  And the means by which you get relief if you’ve been wrongfully denied because you haven’t submitted the right verification is confusing.  


So, streamlining verification would help both families.  Many states have done that.  According to the Center on Budget, ten states allow self-verification of income in both the Medicaid and the CHIP programs.  In Michigan, for example, applicants can self-declare on the joint application, and effective August 2000 they can self-declare for Medicaid on the combined program applications.


Finally, unify the programs.  As I illustrated with the examples, children, if the families are under 133 percent of poverty, will be split up into the separate programs. If we set a bright line 133 percent in Medicaid, the kids would go into the Medicaid program.  Medicaid provides a comprehensive array of preventative services, including long-term substance abuse and mental health services, which will serve the kids well.  It will make it easier to determine eligibility not only for Medi-Cal families, but because the programs are partnered, it will also make it easier to determine Healthy Families eligibility.


Two last final things.  Well, let me just narrow it to one.  I also wanted to echo Leighton Ku’s urging that we also look creatively at the Public Health Initiative.  In the regulations that were published, but not going to go into effect until April, there’s some indication that there might be some flexibility that would allow California to use the Public Health Initiative to not only provide translation services, as he suggested, but to come up with creative ways to screen and enroll kids.  They come into a clinic, for example.  We could draw down federal dollars to perhaps come up with ways where you screen the family right then and there, use the SCHIP funds to pay for part of the screening, and then enroll the kids in whichever program they’re eligible for.


We’ve seen this work in L.A. County with a great project that’s been funded by the Endowment, the VIDA Project, and as well with the Family P.A.C.T. program which provides family planning services to women.  


So, thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much.  I don’t want to give you total comfort, but some comfort may be provided.  Senator Chesbro and I will be introducing the simplification, some of the issues, what we will deal with.  I can’t assure you we’ll get a signature, but we’ll give it the best kind of try that we can.  We’re trying to go through the laundry list of how much is going to be covered in our simplification.  Maybe there are other things we can pick up that we had yet to identify prior to today.


So thank you.


Final speaker, welcome.


MS. IRENE IBARRA:  Thank you very much.


Good afternoon, Senators, and thank you for inviting me to join you this afternoon and to provide you some information about our experience in administering the Medi-Cal and Healthy Families benefits, and also our new product Family Care, which we began in July of 2000 in Alameda County--


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wonderful.  Ms. Ibarra is from Alameda County, for those of you who didn’t catch it earlier.


MS. IBARRA:  --to cover uninsured children, parents of Healthy Families children, and Medi-Cal children, and families who are working and are not eligible for public programs in Alameda County.


Just by way of background, I’ll let you know that the Alameda Alliance for Health currently serves about 75,000 members.  We started with the Medi-Cal program, then moved into the Healthy Families Program, and today we have about 4,300 Healthy Families children, and then moved into providing an option for uninsured children and families.


Since our inception, our mission was to improve access to care, and so we very much applaud the waiver that Governor Davis and Secretary Grantland Johnson have submitted to cover parents of Healthy Families children.  


Like many others who you’ve heard from and you will hear from who support the waiver, we believe that expanding health coverage for low-income, working parents will provide an increased access to health care for all families and children and, in fact, allow the state to enroll more children.


Many groups, and certainly just hearing from Ms. Vera, you’ve heard that there are many ideas and recommendations for simplifying the current programs, and we support many of these.  I want to share with you our experience with just five of these ideas, and it comes from running these publicly funded programs through a health plan, and more importantly, trying to put up something that we thought would be a seamless system of care for working families below 300 percent of poverty.


Our Family Care product was established to fill the gaps.  At the time that we put it together, the state was not talking about a waiver for covering parents, and we also knew that there were many children in families who went without coverage.  I still want to make sure that story is told because even this waiver does not cover all uninsured children below 250 percent of poverty, nor will it cover working parents in this state, who work every day to support their children, below 250 percent or even 200 percent of poverty.


Our Family Care target population is for parents and siblings of children in Medi-Cal, for immigrant children, and families that don’t qualify for public programs, and for low-income families.  We committed $8 million of our own dollars to start to cover these families, and we wanted to basically expand coverage to undocumented children and their parents also.  And I’m pleased that the California Endowment joined us as a partner and provided us a grant of $400,000 to cover undocumented children who would not have the opportunity to receive health coverage through the public programs.


When we opened our doors, we started enrolling parents of Healthy Families children last July and undocumented children and their parents in other working families.  Today we have over 1,000 members.  Our enrollment figures show that about 41 percent of those enrolled are parents of Medi-Cal and Healthy Families children.  Twenty-eight percent are undocumented children, 19 percent are undocumented parents.  Fifty-three percent of our Family Care membership are Latino, 25 percent are Chinese, 7 percent white, and 13 [percent] Asian Pacific Islander.  Sixty-nine percent of our Family Care members have incomes between 101 and 300 percent of poverty -- so above the Medi-Cal line and up to 300 percent of poverty.


Our benefit package is patterned just like Healthy Families, so it’s comprehensive health and dental, and we charge $10 a month for children and $20 a month for parents.  There are no co-pays for many of the services, and our experience so far has demonstrated that families will purchase affordable, comprehensive health and dental coverage if we provide a simple enrollment process, assistance to fill out the application, and coverage for the entire family.  We support a seamless system of care.  


So, the first thing is we really do believe that coverage for parents up to 250 percent of poverty, as you have heard today, is essential to enrolling more children.  Secondly, we believe we need easy enrollment with a single family application.  Our application is three pages long, and with one application you can enroll the entire family.  We ask for financial qualifications, but parents who already have children in Healthy Families or Medi-Cal are deemed financially eligible; they need provide nothing more because they already have enrolled their children.  For other families, we just ask for supporting documents, and no assets test is imposed on anyone.


As the enrollment figures indicate, it’s not uncommon to see an application with one child on Medi-Cal, one in Healthy Families, one with no coverage, and the parents also without coverage.  That’s the reality of families who are low-income and working in the State of California.


We would support twelve-month continuous eligibility.  We’re very pleased, obviously, that in the Healthy Families Program and for Medi-Cal children there is now a twelve-month continuous eligibility.  We provide no paperwork throughout the year as necessary to maintain enrollment in our program.  We will just do an annual benefit year income verification from the family.  And we’ve been just as flexible as possible to try to find ways to keep a family enrolled for a whole year.


We really support simple eligibility for the entire family, whether they’re in Medi-Cal or Healthy Families.  In today’s disjointed system, a family could have children in either of the programs, as you’ve heard us say and heard other testimony.  It’s confusing not only to the family but to the providers, the physicians, the clinics, the hospitals, and the health care system that must serve them and figure out which program they’re in.  And if there are different administrative processes and operations, it can become a complicated system.


This fact, however, is blurred if the health plan at the local level enrolls parents and children, and then parents and children have the same access to the same physicians with the same clinics and the same hospitals.


In Family Care, parents and their children all receive the same member card, so they’re all identified with one place.  They have the same customer service to provide them the answers to their questions and to help them stay enrolled.


I do want to talk a little bit about outreach and enrollment, and I know you’ve raised some of those issues.  As long as public systems are difficult to maneuver, we have disjointed eligibility policies, and the perception by consumers is that the public programs are inaccessible.  There is nothing more important than community-based outreach and enrollment assistance.


California needs to expand support for these services and provide one-to-one application assistance to families in a culturally competent, linguistically diverse manner.


We’ve not advertised Family Care -- we don’t spend money on marketing -- but we’ve relied on a social marketing approach.  Outreach and enrollment are conducted by a community health center staff, community agencies, providers, and our own bilingual enrollment specialists.  Even with a simple application like ours, one-to-one assistance is needed for a family who has never experienced insurance coverage or knows how to maneuver the system.


As you deliberate on ways to streamline the process, I’d like for you to keep in mind three distinct and separate processes.  First, it’s the application, and California has done a lot to simplify application.  But second is enrollment and eligibility, and I think you’ve just heard what it takes to really maneuver eligibility between state and county functions.  And third, that access to care is really through a health plan in the Medi-Cal managed care system and in Healthy Families.  


Our experience with Healthy Families, Medi-Cal, and Family Care has shown that parents will provide coverage for their family when it’s affordable, when it’s simple, when it’s understandable, and when it is easy to maneuver the system.


We look forward to working with you and others to continue to expand comprehensive health coverage for low-income working families.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I apologize, I have a meeting that’s running early, amazingly.  So I apologize, and Senator Chesbro’s going to take over chairing.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Before you leave, though, Senator, I just wanted to say, in case you haven’t already observed it, there’s serious partnership here between the policy committee and the Budget Committee.  Deborah is serving on the Budget [sub]committee which I’m chairing, I’m serving on the policy committee which she’s chairing, and we’re going to approach these things both legislatively and from a budget standpoint together.  So, I wanted to say that before you left.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  And I have lots of questions for the panelists, but I’ll delay and probably call you and my staff will chat with you.  But thank you so much for all your testimony.  There may be hope at the end of the tunnel.


Thank you, Members.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Are there questions from the Members?  Yes, Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  


I wanted to ask Ms. Ibarra, when you identified an example of a family in which one child was enrolled in Healthy Families, another child somewhere else, one not at all, and the parents not at all, I didn’t get in the context of your remarks to what you might attribute that oversight or lack.  You weren’t saying it was monetary but rather the possibility of confusion or not knowing who’s enrolled or how to enroll.


MS. IBARRA:  Well, it could be with income levels and ages of the children, and not all children may be citizens or documented residents.


SENATOR KUEHL:  So you meant the fracturing is in the system itself.


MS. IBARRA:  Yes.  And the policies for who is covered under which program.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Okay, thank you.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Other questions from Members?


Let me ask Yolanda Vera, what is your take on the issue of parental choice as a way of addressing family unification?  When addressing family unification, it seems that one should shift more beneficiaries to the Healthy Families Program or the Medi-Cal program.  Can you discuss the pros and cons of moving beneficiaries in either direction?


MS. VERA:  Well, under current law, there’s restrictions into which program folks can go.  Of course, parental choice, in order for it to happen, means there has to be a choice.  
The advocates, at least our office, has always taken the position that if you’re going to create a bright line, it makes sense to create it within the Medi-Cal program.  


The Healthy Families benefit package is based, as you know, on CalPERS, which is more for adults; whereas, the Medi-Cal program, in particular, provides a comprehensive set of benefits specifically catered to kids.  Lead screening is an example.  It provides regular blood lead tests as well as follow-up for kids and many kids who are low-income who are exposed to lead poisoning.


The Medi-Cal program establishes standards on when those tests have to happen and screening.  So, if there is a family choice creating a bright line at 133, it would then mean the family would go together to the Medi-Cal program where the kids would remain eligible for those benefits.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Ms. Ibarra, in your program, do you have co-pays?  And how are they affecting utilization rates?


MS. IBARRA:  We have co-pays.  They are the same as the Healthy Families Program, which is $5.  At this point, the highest utilization is for dental care.  That is the first service that the families are accessing, and in dental care there is co-pay.  It doesn’t seem to be affecting that part of the program.  


In terms of health care, we really don’t have enough data to see over a six-month period how much utilization is, but we believe that most of the children and their parents who are enrolling in this plan are fairly healthy.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  I can’t recall whether you addressed the question of premiums in your program and how that affects program participation.


MS. IBARRA:  We do have premiums, and they are $10 for a child and $20 for a parent.  We’re going to evaluate whether or not it affects negatively the parents below 100 percent of poverty, which is where we think the biggest impact will be.


The other thing that we did with premiums, though, is it’s pretty easy to pay a premium in our program.  It’s not uncommon to see a family come and pay in cash.  We’re real flexible.  We don’t disenroll them right away.  We call them.  We try to figure out ways to do any kind of a payment plan.  We’re going to evaluate our premiums levels, but I think the other thing is to make it easy and not to drop families the moment they miss a payment by a few days.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Dr. Ross.


DR. ROSS:  I think a comment that bears mentioning, and it’s well understood, I’m sure, by everyone in the room, although I haven’t heard anyone specifically mention it, the issue of the high degree of disenrollment.


All things being equal from a policy standpoint today, it’s only going to get worse over the next year or so with the energy crisis.  If we’re talking about families that are living on the margins, and if they’ve got to make a choice about an extra 30 or 50 bucks, and their electricity bill goes up by an extra 30 or 50 bucks a month, we can pretty much anticipate that unless we get our arms around this issue we’ve been talking about, that disenrollment in Healthy Families is going to increase.  Even through expanding coverage, we could end up in a very embarrassing scenario for all of us that we have more families and kids that are uninsured rather than fewer.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  We’re, in the Senate, trying to address that with a bill that Senator Sher is authoring, and I’m principal coauthor, to address, both, expanding the light/heat programs, both for direct payments to help reimburse people for their high energy bills and low-income weatherization programs to help stabilize their bills over a longer period of time by trying to make sure that the gaps under the door or around the window are sufficiently plugged to keep the heat from escaping.  


It’s not going to be perfect and it’s not going to be soon enough, and so, this doesn’t contradict what you’re saying as a contributing factor, but we’re certainly going to be running as fast as we can to get that money out there.  I think we’ve got the Governor’s support.  I hope that’ll happen as part of this special session so that we can start counteracting that impact on the lowest income Californians.


So, are there any other comments or questions for the panel?  Yes, Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I’m going to apologize in advance because I don’t know whether it’s thinking outside the box or really a dumb question.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Both are allowed.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you.  That’s good.


It seems to me that one of the difficulties people have is in either remembering to pay a premium or knowing if they’ve paid it and continuous sort of keeping it up, falling out, having to be reminded, three notices, You haven’t paid your premium this month.  


Is it necessary to have the income from premiums of people who are healthy and do not visit the program in order to maintain solvency?  Which would mean that you couldn’t do it the way we did when I was a kid, which is you paid to go see the doctor, but it would be just a cap payment or a certain amount of payment, and if you went twice a month and you’d already paid your 20 bucks, you wouldn’t have to pay again.  But, no program can sustain itself if it only treats sick people who pay when they’re sick.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Does anybody want to respond to that?  


If not, I would like to thank the panel and the earlier panels for participating.  And I understand that Senator Ortiz pointed out why I was late in coming, but I want to extend my apologies.  Mental health is a whole other issue that is of extreme importance, and there was another hearing going on that I was participating in.


So thank you, and I’ll open the floor up to any comments from the public who would like to address the committee.


Is there anyone who’s not on the agenda who wanted to address the committee on this topic?  Speak now--


Are you coming forward?  Can’t be shy in this business.


MS. NAOMI MEYER:  I was expecting a rush.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  So was I.  Glad to have you.


MS. MEYER:  Good afternoon.  Naomi Meyer with Consumers Union.  I appreciate the chance to comment and I’ll be very brief.  I know time is of the essence here.  I think that most of my comments have been made by one or another speaker today, so I’ll just quickly emphasize some issues of primary concern.


First of all, we, of course, want to express our commendation to this Administration for putting forth the waiver, and we’re particularly pleased to see the proposal for increased funding for outreach through CBOs and schools.  We think that’s an essential way to go about increasing enrollments in both Medi-Cal and Healthy Families.


In terms of elements that we really believe need to be in this waiver to make the program that results work effectively, as has been said by others, we think that the coverage of parents should go up to 250 percent of poverty, really for two reasons.


The first is for simplification.  As has been said, if you’re covering parents up to one level and children up to another level, it just adds confusion to the program and public perception.  But the other is that there are a lot of working parents who are not covered, who are in this range of 200 to 250 percent of poverty.  Yes, some of their employers offer coverage.  A lot of employers don’t offer coverage.  Some offer it, but it’s too expensive for the families to buy into.  We just see an enormous need that remains there.


We also think that the premiums need to be reconsidered, that the current levels that are being proposed are going to be burdensome on the families that they’re aimed at.


One point that I hadn’t heard mentioned today, probably because I know that MRMIB intends to address it in the regulations, but I just wanted to call attention to it, is the definition of “parent,” meaning who’s going to be actually covered by this expansion.  We want to emphasize that there are caretaker relatives out there who are raising children, who are eligible for these programs, who should be included in the definition of “parent” in these programs and be able to get Healthy Families coverage, and we hope that definition will include them.


Finally, we’ve heard a whole panel on the issue of simplification and so I won’t reiterate all of it.  We support all of the simplification measures that we’ve heard proposed, and we look forward to seeing the final version of the bill by Senators Ortiz and Chesbro and to helping try to get that passed.


The two measures for simplification that I want to just emphasize are eliminating the assets test and giving twelve-month continuous eligibility to parents on Medi-Cal.  We think that these are really essential to cover the low-income parents first, which is what the HCFA guidance requires.  Now, we’re going to have a new administration, but as far as I know this guidance still holds, and it also seems like the right thing to do.  People who are in most need should be covered first.  If we end up with a system where this high application burden, administrative burden, for staying enrolled only applies to the lowest income families, we’re going to have, I think,  a result different from the one that we’re all seeking.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Thank you for your testimony.


MS. BETH CAPELL:  Beth Capell on behalf of Health Access.  


We, too, support going to 250 percent.  We think it’s going to be confusing to families that parents are in sometimes and not others.


We’re also concerned about affordability of premiums at these income levels.  I am reminded that now in Oakland, it’s not uncommon in fairly modest parts of town for two-bedroom apartments to cost $1,500 a month, and that when you’re talking about a poverty level of $13,000 a year for a family of three, you can see there’s a certain disjuncture there that makes it troublesome to pay out any amount of money.  And that applies not only to the premiums but out-of-pocket costs as well.  Things that even our state employees find difficult to afford, living in the Bay Area or Los Angeles.  It will be even harder to afford for some of these other working families.


With respect to crowd-out, we don’t believe that it’s a significant issue between 200 percent and 250 percent of poverty.  And you’ve heard the research that indicates that what’s crowded out is the individual coverage.  We want to remind you that we have unreformed, individual insurance market in California that allows significant medical underwriting.  I believe a number of the people within the sound of my voice, including myself, are medically uninsurable in California.  Those barriers are real and it’s ridiculous to put people who make between 200 and 250 percent of poverty out into that market.


We also support streamlining.  Frankly, signing up for Healthy Families and Medi-Cal should be as easy and accessible as signing up for CalPERS is for all the state employees and as employment-based coverage is for anyone else or as signing up for Medicare is for our seniors.  And until we hit that level, we haven’t gone far enough.


I’d like to echo what Ms. Ibarra said.  Health Access runs a very small enrollment effort in San Francisco, and we know this from other people who do this, we find more and more that families have mixed immigration status.  This is much more prevalent than we had anticipated; that you’ll have one parent who’s here and is a citizen, another one whose status is, for whatever reason, unclear or in transition, and, much more than we expected, children in the same family who don’t necessarily have the same immigration status.  This becomes a huge barrier and very troublesome.  And families, especially given the history in this state, are very hesitant to interact with systems where they might put their eventual hopes of citizenship or staying in this country legally at risk.  So we are very concerned about those implications.


I would note, programs that are enrolling people without regard to immigration status find much higher prevalence of difficulties in this area than we had anticipated, I think, when many of us supported the original creation of Healthy Families.


Thank you.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Thank you very much.  


Yes.


MS. DINA LAHN  Dina Lahn from the Children’s Defense Fund on behalf of the Hundred Percent Campaign, which is a collaboration of Children NOW, the Children’s Defense Fund, and the Children’s Partnership.


I’m only going to mention issues that have not been mentioned before, though we have more to say on this waiver and have submitted written testimony.


Just really briefly on the issue of going up to 250 percent, I just want to emphasize again the confusion in outreach that we are afraid it’s going to cause by having different income levels for kids and parents.  While we understand the fiscal conservative idea of maybe increasing it later if we haven’t spent all the money, it’s going to create a lot of problems with our outreach message which needs to be simpler and needs to get out there in the community.  I think we’ve seen with all the different changes in the program how hard it is to get that information to trickle down to the hundreds of community-based organizations who are actually the ones interacting with families and getting them to sign up.


Another thing, and Senator Kuehl asked some good questions, I thought, about the confusion of families who may have one child in one program, one child in another.  Some of the focus groups that have been done have shown that families don’t like that.  They don’t like different coverage for different kids.  Right now, all programs do not serve all plans, Healthy Families and Medi-Cal.  So it can be also an issue where you have to take a child to one doctor or another doctor in the same family.  


The Hundred Percent Campaign is proposing administrative consolidation of the programs and ultimately having all providers serve both programs, meaning that there would still be federal funding differences behind the scenes, but up front the whole program would be called Healthy Families and would look the same to families.  A couple of other states have done this, and we will be providing some information on those states.


One other thing I just wanted to mention is that we need to simplify the process between Healthy Families and Medi-Cal.  There have been a lot of problems reported by community-based organizations that we work with of families falling through the cracks between Healthy Families and Medi-Cal.  It’s very frustrating for families.  They get told that they’re not eligible for Healthy Families because they’re eligible for Medi-Cal, but it turns out they’re not eligible for Medi-Cal.  They get bounced back and forth for months, and many of them, we believe, just fall through the cracks.  Those lucky enough to maybe get to a Health Consumer Alliance center, someone to help them, eventually get enrolled months later.  Other families, we’re sure, just give up.


There is something we could do about this.  We propose one possibility would be to have a true single point of entry where all the applications came to one place, and Medi-Cal staff, which are actually located at that place, to help the families.


So we really hope that everyone looks at the process and looks at these people falling through the cracks, and to create a simple, expanded program for families.


Thank you.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Thank you very much.


Yes.


MS. MELISSA STAFFORD JONES:  Good afternoon.  Melissa Stafford Jones with the California Association of Public Hospitals and Health Systems.  


I’d like to very briefly echo the comments.  We’re very supportive of the waiver.  We would like to see it go up to 250 percent of poverty.  We are concerned about the high level of premiums for families; in fact, if those are affordable and would become a barrier to enrollment.


One item that we have proposed that has not been discussed today is to look at the discount that’s given for enrolling in the community provider plan.  For children that’s a $3 discount, which is about 40 percent of the premium.  What’s proposed under the waiver is also a $3 discount, but given the premium of $20 to $25, that’s clearly not anywhere proportional.  And we have proposed that perhaps that discount should also be proportional and perhaps in the 40 percent range, which could very much help make the program more affordable for parents.


We also want to mention specifically, we’re supportive of a number of the simplification measures that have been proposed, and in particular the issue of the elimination of the assets test.  Clearly, there are some very serious issues of fairness and even logic in terms of how those are differentiated between the programs.


I’ll keep my comments to that for now, given the late hour.


Thank you.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Thank you very much.


Other members of the public who didn’t have a chance to be on the agenda formally?


If not, let me say again that we’re going to be looking at these issues at the Budget subcommittee as well from a budgetary standpoint, and what we can do to address them there, as well as the legislative angle.


Thank you all for your participation, and we look forward to resolving some of these issues this year.
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